## Dark Stars and Gravitational Waves: Topical Review

Kilar Zhang,<sup>1,\*</sup> Ling-Wei Luo,<sup>2,†</sup> Jie-Shiun Tsao,<sup>2,‡</sup> Chian-Shu Chen,<sup>3,4,§</sup> and Feng-Li Lin<sup>2,¶</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Physics, Shanghai University, Shanghai 200444, Mainland China,

Shanghai Key Lab for Astrophysics, Shanghai 200234, Mainland China

<sup>2</sup>Department of Physics, National Taiwan Normal University, Taipei 116, Taiwan

<sup>3</sup>Department of Physics, Tamkang University, New Taipei 251, Taiwan

<sup>4</sup>Physics Division, National Center for Theoretical Sciences, Taipei 10617, Taiwan

Motivated by recent observations of compact binary gravitational wave events reported by LIGO/Virgo/KAGRA, we review the basics of dark and hybrid stars<sup>a</sup> and examine their probabilities as mimickers for black holes and neutron stars. This review aims to survey this exciting topic and offer the necessary tools for the research study at the introductory level. Although called a review, some results are newly derived, such as the equations of state for specific dark star models and the scaling symmetry for the Tidal Love number.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Dark sides of the Universe	3
	A. Dark energy and dark matter	3
	B. GW signatures and gap events	4
	C. Dark matter models	5
	1. Fermionic models	5
	2. Bosonic models	6
	3. Composite models	7
	4. Primordial black holes	8
III.	Dark and hybrid stars	9
	A. Compact stars and equation of state	9
	B. Tolman-Oppenheimer-Volkoff equations	11
	C. Tidal Love number	11
	D. Scaling symmetry of TOV and TLN	
	configurations	12
	E. I-Love-Q relation	12
	F. Hybrid stars	13
	1. Junction conditions	13
	2. Stability criteria	13
	3. Examples	14
	G. Possible formation mechanism	14
	1. Capture mechanism	14
	2. Hydrodynamic approach: Accretion and fragmentation	15
	3 A tentative example of composite dark	10
	matter: Mirror copy approach	15
IV.	Mimickers of black holes and neutron stars	16
	A. Mimickers in the lower mass range	16

	B. Mimickers in the higher mass range	17
V.	Methodology of data analysis	18
	A. Matched filtering	19
	B. Bayesian inferences for gravitational wave	
	data analysis	19
	C. Some example posteriors for mass gap events	
	as black hole mimickers	21
	1. Upper Mass Gap: GW190521	21
	2. Lower Mass Gap: GW190814	22
	D. Boson stars discrimination	22
VI.	Conclusion	23
		0.0
А.	Derivation of isotropic Equations of State	23
в	Bondi accretion for non relativistic and	
D.	rolativistic fluida	94
	1CIAUVISUU HUIUS	24
	References	25

- <sup>§</sup> Email: chianshu@gmail.com, Corresponding Author
- ¶ Email: fengli.lin@gmail.com, Corresponding Author

<sup>\*</sup> Email: kilar@shu.edu.cn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Email: lwluo@ntnu.edu.tw

 $<sup>^\</sup>ddagger$ Email: tsaojieshiun@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> In this review "hybrid stars" means "dark-matter admixed stars", though this term usually refers to compact stars that compose of both hadronic and quark matter.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Gravity is the weakest fundamental force in nature. Nevertheless, the gravitational waves (GW) were produced from energy-momentum or matter disturbance, as the theory of General Relativity (GR) predicted [1, 2]. These GW propagate throughout spacetime without much being affected by the interstellar regions. In other words, they preserve most of the information from their sources, according to the feebleness of gravitational force! After more than half a century's efforts, the first GW event of binary black holes (BBH) coalescence, named GW150914, was observed in the year 2015 by LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration [3]. The penetrability of GW opens a window to detect the binary systems and stochastic GW background for complementary study for astronomy. Also, it provides valuable information on the early universe, such as inflation, primordial black holes (PBH), phase transition, topological defects, etc., for cosmology.

Coincidently, not only GW that weakly interacts with the matter but dark matter (DM), which is composed of about a quarter of the energy density in our universe, also feebly couples with ordinary matter. Currently, three ways to unclose the mystery of DM: direct detection is the observation of light or thermal signals that the nuclei or electron recoils scattering by interstellar DM particles [4–9], while indirect detection is to search for the excess of cosmic rays from the core regions of galaxies or cluster systems where is believed to have a highly dense distribution of DM [10–18]. The DM pair annihilations produce these extra cosmic rays. The final method is collider production, which uses the inverse process of the indirect search and tracing the missing energy or searches for long-live neutral particles [19, 20].

However, gravity couples universally to all matters, including DM. This opens a new opportunity to detect the nature of DM. It is well known that DM plays a critical role in structure formation according to the density perturbations in the early stage of the universe [21]. The standard ACDM (collisionless DM) model simulations predict a large-scale structure consistent with the observations, while some puzzles at small-scale structures demand further study [22]. There are several possible solutions to the small-scale problems [23–27]; in this review article, we focus on the self-interacting DM (SIDM) scenario [28]. This is also the nature of the DM we probe.

The progenitors of the stellar objects are formed in interstellar gas clouds. They further evolve into more compact objects through various processes such as accretions, nuclear reactions, gravitational collapses, mergers, etc., among which DM halos are known to provide the gravitational well for such a formation process [29, 30]. If Standard Model (SM) particles that consist of about 5% of the energy density in the universe provide a rich catalog of stellar objects such as black holes (BH), neutron stars (NS), ordinary stars, planets, etc. It is arguable that DM, which has about five times more energy density than the SM particles, might also have similar or even richer possible configurations of stellar objects. However, the lack of self-interaction CDM would make it challenging to form a stellar structure. SIDM, on the other hand, would provide a theoretical ground base for the formation of dark stars (DS). For more detailed reviews on DS, please check [31–33].

We will not address the formation mechanism of DS but comment on the potential importance of SIDM to have stellar objects in the dark side of the universe. Instead, we study the stable configurations of DS according to GR for various equations of state (EoS), which correspond to different forms of dark scalar self-interactions. Over one hundred binary-system GW events are observed by the LIGO Scientific, Virgo, and KAGRA Collaborations (LVK) from O1 to O3 in the past years [34– 36]. Some recently observed LIGO/Virgo/KAGRA binary events show the masses of the component compact objects may lie in the regions of low and high mass gaps, which are forbidden for the standard BH formation mechanism. Although the exact values of the mass gaps are uncertain, see [37, 38] for some discussions, our current knowledge of stellar evolution supports their existence. Thus, it is quite possible that these mass-gap objects can be regarded as DS and called BH mimickers. More information about these compact objects, such as massradius relation and tidal deformability, will depend on the nature of DM and be imprinted in the waveform of GW. Besides, the spin-induced multipole moments and oscillation frequencies, e.g., f-mode frequency, GW absorption, and other information not discussed in this review, will also be encoded in the GW signal. Thus, one can extract the properties of DM through the data analysis of the mass-gap events.

As this review covers a broad interdisciplinary landscape across particle physics, astrophysics, and GW astronomy, we give a graphic outline of this review in Fig. 1 to orient the readers on how the pieces fit together and provide an at-a-glance roadmap.

The plan for the rest of the review goes as follows. The next section reviews the basics of dark energy. DM models, PBH, and their implications for GW physics. Section III reviews the models of dark and hybrid stars and their properties, such as stable configurations and tidal deformability, and also sketches the possible formation mechanisms. Section IV discusses the boson stars as the mimickers of NS and BH. Section V briefly reviews the data analysis methodology to infer the existence and properties of DS from GW events. We then conclude our review in section VI. There are two appendices: the first reviews the derivation of the equation of states for generic bosonic self-interacting DM; the second reviews the Bondi accretion mechanism for star or spike formation out of non-relativistic or relativistic fluids. In this work, we have adopted  $G = c = \hbar = 1$  units in most places.



FIG. 1: Graphic roadmap of this review with the corresponding sections for each topic indicated in red.

## II. DARK SIDES OF THE UNIVERSE

## A. Dark energy and dark matter

It is well established that the energy density of our universe is composed of around 70% dark energy, 25% DM, and the rest 5% is the SM particles [39]. The expansion of our universe is accelerating rather than slowing down by observing the redshift of supernovae [40]. The negative pressure of dark energy is believed to be responsible for causing the late-time cosmological acceleration. Though the equation of state (EoS) of vacuum energy offers the simplest solution, adding scalar fields also provides a dynamical EoS satisfying the current observations. It would rely on future astrophysical precision measurements to deepen our understanding of this issue.

Our primary focus, however, in this review article is DM. DM was first proposed for the validity of the virial theorem to infer the stability of cluster galaxies (i.e., Coma galaxy cluster, etc.) and the galaxies (i.e., Milky Way, etc.). A significant component of a missing mass composed by DM is regarded to support the fast infall velocity of satellite objects. Another key reason for introducing the DM is to resolve the rotation curve puzzle, which cannot be explained solely by the visible matter. Similarly, the light bending due to the invisible DM gravitational lens can also explain the novel observed distortion source images. Furthermore, different epochs in the evolutionary universe, such as the relic abundance of the light nucleus at the early stage and cosmic microwave background (CMB) after the photon decoupling, suggest evidence for the extra energy density of DM. Last but not least, the primordial energy distributions of DM provide the initial space-time perturbations to the galactic structure formation. The resulting N-body simulation used the initial perturbation condition analyzed from CMB data, consistent with the large-scale survey.

The best knowledge on the nature of DM is still obscure at the moment of writing; it would be the lack of understanding in gravity theory, or it suggests a new kind of particle. Various experimental searches and theoretical constructions try to solve the mysterious missing piece of energy contribution. In the particle physics aspect, however, it is commonly suggested that DM is presumably a stable particle that interacts inertly with electromagnetic force. Therefore, it is an invisible matter distributed among interstellar space and provides the extra gravitational attraction to sustain the galactic structure. Under this assumption, the nature of DM turns into the quest for its fundamental quantum numbers, such as its spin, its interactions (in terms of Lagrangian), its mass, etc. The form of its interactions with the SM particles will determine the DM relic abundance as the universe evolves. Some mechanisms suggest that DM will thermally freeze out, and some models design for the thermal freeze-in from the thermal bath, to achieve the observed 25% energy density. It is generally thought that the DM interacts with the SM particles weakly and moves nonrelativistically to evolve into the current structure. This is called cold DM (CDM).

Even though the CDM provides a successful framework to generate large-scale structure, consistent with the observation, some ambiguities at small-scale structure, namely core/cusp problem, missing satellites, and too-big-to-fail, suggest the extension of the CDM model. The collisionless among CDM would generically produce a cuspy density in the central region of the DM halo due to the gravitational accumulation. On the other hand, the observations indicate the core structure is a relatively flat profile. This inconsistency is called the core/cusp problem [41–47]. In contrast, the missing satellites problem comes from the number of satellite galaxies surrounding a cluster, which is smaller than the prediction of Nbody simulation [48–50]. A collisionless CDM is used in the simulation and can produce a DM halo surrounded by several sub-halos. The gravitational potential wells produced by DM halo or sub-halos are believed to be the seeds of galactic structure. Therefore, the numbers of sub-halo suggested in the N-body simulation will be identified as the satellite galaxies. However, the conflict occurs between the simulations and observations. Furthermore, the massive DM halos are often preferred in the Nbody simulations that infer that large galaxies should be commonly observed. A measurement of the infall velocity of objects located around the boundaries would tell us the mass content of the galaxy due to the Virial theorem. It is not a regular event to see such a giant galaxy. The name of the problem refers to too-big-to-fail, suggesting this opposite preference. These three small structure puzzles may come from the insufficient understanding of the interaction between DM and SM particles and/or the baryonic processes, such as supernova feedback and photoionization. However, it also suggests the non-trivial feature of DM, such as the DM self-interaction. Overall, for the proposed DM model to solve the above problems, it imposes the cross-section  $\sigma_{\rm DM}$  of self-scattering, and the DM's mass  $m_{\rm DM}$  in a small window [28, 51–54],

$$0.1 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g} < \sigma_{\text{DM}}/m_{\text{DM}} < 1 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$$
. (1)

This can serve as a stringent constraint on the DM model with self-interaction.

#### B. GW signatures and gap events

Gravity couples universally to stress tensors for all forms of matter, including DM. Therefore, besides the primary goal of testing the strong gravity regime for Einstein's gravity by detecting the GW from distant sources, it also provides a viable venue to detect the sources void of electromagnetic signals, such as the DS.

Since LIGO's first detected BBH event GW150914 [3] found on September 2015, LIGO and Virgo collaborations have finished the third operation run (O3). They will launch their fourth operation run (O4) in the middle of 2023. Up to now, there are about a hundred observed gravitational events of compact binary coalescences (CBC), most of which are BBH events [34, 36, 55]. Among them, some are deservedly highlighted discussions. For example, the first discovery of binary neutron stars (BNS) event GW170817 [56, 57], which was also detected by the gamma-ray detector [58] and can shed some light on the equation of state (EoS) of dense nuclear matter. Especially the data analysis of GW170817 shows evidence of a nonvanishing tidal Love number; see [59] for the more subtle discussions. Due to the considerable uncertainty of sky location at the current LIGO/Virgo sensitivity stage, detecting the companion electromagnetic signals of BNS or binary neutron star/BH (NSBH) events is usually challenging. For example, the other possible BNS event GW190425 [60], or NSBH events GW200105 and GW200115 [61] do not have the detected electromagnetic follow-up due to the high mass of GW190425 making prompt collapse likely, and the high mass ratios of the two NSBH events making tidal disruption of the NS unlikely. At least, among the observed GW events up to O3, GW170817 is the only one with detected multi-messenger signals. The later LIGO/Virgo/KAGRA (LVK) operation is hoped to run with enhanced sensitivity, improving the GW events' sky localization and helping find the multi-messenger signals.

The other two LIGO/Virgo events, which fall in the so-called mass gap regimes, are GW190521 [62] and GW190814 [63]. The former consists of two BH with masses about  $85.3^{+21}_{-14} M_{\odot}$  and  $66^{+17}_{-18}$ , respectively. The latter consists of a BH with a mass of  $22.2 - 24.3M_{\odot}$  and a companion compact object with a mass of  $2.5 - 2.67M_{\odot}$  which is marginally beyond the maximal mass  $2.5M_{\odot}$  of a neutron star [64, 65].

The mass gap means the range of BH' masses for which the corresponding population of BH is rare [66]. There are two mass gaps:

• The lower mass gap ranges from 2.5-5  $M_{\odot}$  and is mainly supported by the scarcity of the observation events in this range [67, 68]. However, the physical reason for such a mass gap is unclear. Note that the maximal mass of the NS roughly sets the lower bound. On the other hand,

• The stage of pair-instability supernovae predicts the upper mass gap of the BH's masses in the stellar evolution, for which the electron-positron production prevents further gravitational collapse and prefers the supernovae explosion. The exact upper mass gap depends on the details of the stellar evolution model [69], and the one adopted by LIGO/Virgo [68] ranges between 50 and 150

solar masses.

• Besides, there is a less mentioned sub-solar mass gap between 0.2 and 1  $M_{\odot}$  [70] simply because of no viable stellar evolution channel to produce such BH unless invoking the primordial origin due to the density fluctuation at early Universe [71].

According to LVK's Gravitational-Wave Transient Catalog (GWTC) of compact binary mergers up to O3 [34, 36, 55], there are about a dozen of mass-gap candidate events. Some may have considerable uncertainty on the component masses due to insufficient signal-to-noise (SNR). However, their median values fall in the mass gap. Then, the question is, what are the sources for such mass-gap events? There are three possible scenarios.

• The first scenario is that they are the secondary objects from previous mergers but not from the collapse of stellar evolution. The observed population tomography and its connection to the formation mechanism can verify or falsify this scenario. One should wait for more observed events to build up the correct tomography.

• The second one is that they are PBH, which rely on the observed population tomography to be fitted to the inflationary models.

• The third option is that they are BH mimickers formed by some exotic DM. For a given type of DM, the associated DS will have the specific mass-radius relation as a prediction be verified or falsified by the observed gravitational events. Moreover, as the mimickers of BH, the tidal Love number (TLN) of DS should be tiny to mimic the BH known to have zero TLN. This review will focus on the third option, as it is an exciting interplay between GW astronomy and the mysterious part of particle physics.

#### C. Dark matter models

Since there is only astrophysical evidence for DM, which implies that DM mainly interacts with the baryonic matter through gravitational interaction, there is almost no constraint on the DM models as long as it interacts weakly with the standard model particles. Therefore, the weak interacting massive particle (WIMP) model is the simplest DM model. WIMP particles are almost non-interacting and massive enough that they will decouple from the cosmic thermal bath in the early universe. However, it also means that the WIMP is hard to detect by the conventional detector through its interaction with the baryons. The direct search now finds no evidence and severely constrains the masses of WIMP particles and the constant coupling strength with the standard model particles.

Some natural candidates for the WIMP are neutralino or gravitino of the supersymmetric field theory or supergravity theory [72, 73]. However, as there is no direct evidence for the supersymmetry from the collider experiments, it then puts the physical supports of such candidates with a question mark. There are other astrophysical phenomena that the WIMP may not explain sufficiently. For example, the core-cusp and missing satellite problems for the dark halos are the discrepancies between the N-body simulations based on the WIMP scenario and the observational structures of small-scale. This then opens the door for alternative DM models.

Since we focus on the possibility of compact DS for this review, we will emphasize the DM models compatible with such a possibility.

#### 1. Fermionic models

Up-to-date experimental instruments are still exploring the nature of DM. Depending on the motivation for extending the SM, it could be a fundamental fermion or a bosonic particle. In this subsection, we focus on the fermionic nature of DM particles. Neutrinos were first considered the DM candidate when the neutrino oscillating data did not confirm their mass scales. Though the absolute mass of each SM neutrino is still unknown, the oscillating data and cosmology energy density observation provide the heaviest neutrino to lie around  $10^{-1}$  eV to  $10^{-2}$ -eV [74–77]. It suggests that the SM neutrinos can not explain the energy density of the missing matter. However, the lightness of neutrino masses is a fundamental question; the famous Type-I seesaw mechanism does provide the right-handed neutrino as a good candidate for DM [78].

If the right-handed neutrinos  $\nu_R$  are introduced, their SM quantum numbers are completely neutral. It suggests  $\nu_R$  can be the so-called Majorana fermion (a fundamental fermion is an anti-particle of itself), and its mass term is purely a parameter of the theory and not constrained by the SM gauge symmetries. The Lagrangian, which is relevant to neutrino masses, has the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} - Y_{\alpha i} \bar{l}_{\alpha} H \nu_{Ri} - \frac{M_{Ri}}{2} \bar{\nu}_{Ri}^c \nu_{Ri} + h.c.$$
(2)

where  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM}$  is the SM largrangian, H is the SM Higgs doublet,  $l_{\alpha}$  are the  $SU(2)_L$  leptonic doublet with flavor index  $\alpha$ ,  $Y_{\alpha i}$  is the Yukawa couplings with i = 1, 2, 3 refers to the assumed right-handed species. The number of right-handed neutrinos is not restricted here, and we assume three  $\nu_R$ 's for illustration. Note c is the charged conjugation, and  $M_{Ri}$  is the Majorana mass of  $\nu_{Ri}$ , which is not forbidden by the gauge symmetries, as we mentioned. One does not assume the global lepton number to be necessarily conserved. The Majorana mass matrix  $M_{Ri}$  is chosen to be diagonal without loss of generality. After diagonalizing the  $6 \times 6$  neutrino mass matrix in the basis of  $(\nu_e, \nu_\mu, \nu_\tau, \nu_{R1}, \nu_{R2}, \nu_{R3})$ , one obtains the mass eigenvalues of SM neutrinos as the form

$$m_{\nu} = \frac{m_D^2}{M_R} = \frac{Y^2 v^2}{M_R} \,. \tag{3}$$

Here, we suppress the flavor indices, and  $m_D = Yv$  is the Dirac mass of the neutrino, with v being the vacuum expectation value of Higgs. The lightness of neutrino masses can be explained by the suitable choices of the sizes of  $Y_{\alpha i}$  and  $M_{Ri}$ . It was proposed that if one of the right-handed neutrinos has a mass around the keV-scale. It can be a good DM matter candidate and satisfy the current neutrino oscillating data.

Besides the Type-I seesaw mechanism to generate the small neutrino masses, one may also introduce vector fermions with suitable quantum numbers and impose certain discrete symmetries. The neutrino masses are designed to originate at quantum-loop levels; hence, the corresponding quantity is presumably small. The lightest discrete symmetric odd particle is stable and the candidate for DM. Our argument of fermionic DM in this subsection seems to originate from the neutrino mass mechanism. In general, it is unnecessary; other possibilities, such as mirror fermions [79] and the lightest supersymmetric R-parity-odd particles, have their motivations.

Although we will not discuss this extensively in this review, the fermionic DM with self-interaction or weekly interaction with the visible sector could also be the candidate materials to form DS or hybrid stars. However, the requirements from not destroying the NS [80, 81] or from the solar capture [82] put some constraints on the interaction cross-section, hence on their masses and coupling strengths. Despite that, there is still a wide range of parameter spaces for the fermionic DM to form interesting astrophysical compact objects. In principle, DM can clump together if the density perturbations satisfy Jean's instability condition or if the dissipative processes due to SIDM would drive the gravothermal evolution. A DS solution is obtained by solving a static and spherically symmetric metric to have the Tolman-Oppenheimer-Volkoff (TOV) equations and combine the specific EoS of the DM model. For details, see, for example, [83–85]. For free fermion, the M-R relation for DS would be scaled by comparing with NS, namely  $m_{\rm DM} = 1$  GeV with  $M_{\rm DS} \approx 1 M_{\odot}$  and  $R_{\odot} \approx 10$  km. For other interesting examples in particle physics models, the supersymmetric DM to be around 100 GeV, its DS corresponds to  $M_{\rm DS} \approx 10^{-4} M_{\odot}$  and  $R_{\odot} \approx 10^{-3}$  km. And for the case of right-handed neutrino  $m_{\nu_R} = 10$  keV, the DS is about  $M_{\rm DS} \approx 10^{10} M_{\odot}$  and  $R_{\odot} \approx 10^{11}$  km. Adding the potential energy due to the SIDM will change the precise M-R relations but not the overall orders, as we provided in the above examples. In [83], the EoS can be abstracted from two-body repulsive interactions, and the fermionic DM admixed NS stability and M-R relations are evaluated for three different cases: static, rigid rotating, and differentially rotating. It is found that the third case allows the highest mass, with a maximum of up to 1.94  $M_{\odot}$ with a radius of about 10.4 km. Thus, the interacting fermionic DM is also a promising candidate for forming the mimickers for BH and NS. In [83], the EoS can be abstracted from two-body repulsive interactions, and the fermionic DM admixed NS stability and M-R relations are evaluated for three different cases: static, rigid rotating, and differentially rotating. It is found that the

third case allows the highest mass, with a maximum of up to 1.94  $M_{\odot}$  with a radius of about 10.4 km. Thus, the interacting fermionic DM is also a promising candidate for forming the mimickers for BH and NS.

Besides, in [86], it is shown that fermion soliton stars also exist at the non-perturbative level, with the solutions numerically found. Then, the whole parameter space of the system is explored, and implications for astrophysical observations/DM searches are deduced. In particular, a standard gas of degenerate neutrons (resp. electrons) can support stable (sub)solar (resp. supermassive) fermion soliton stars with compactness comparable to that of ordinary NS. Thus, fermion soliton stars are compelling neutron star mimickers.

#### 2. Bosonic models

Unlike the fermionic model, there is no degenerate pressure for the bosonic DM model, so it is hard to form compact boson stars for the free massive bosons without the help of degenerate pressure. Surprisingly, it was discovered in [87] that compact stars can form by introducing tiny self-interactions. This is because the self-gravitating collapse will rapidly squeeze the boson field into higher density so that the self-interacting repulsive force can balance the gravitational attraction to form compact stars. Indeed, the same effect can also be used to resolve the core-cusp and missing satellites problems of dark halos. In [87], the simplest self-interacting model is considered, namely, the  $\frac{\lambda_4}{4} |\phi|^4$  self-interaction for the complex scalar  $\phi$  of mass m, for which it was argued that a compact star of mass of the order of  $\lambda_4^{1/2} M_{\rm pl}^3/m^2$  could form if the following condition holds,

$$\frac{\lambda_4 M_{\rm pl}^2}{m^2} \gg 1,\tag{4}$$

where  $M_{\rm pl}$  is the planck mass. Furthermore, it was also shown in [87] that in this limit, the scalar field inside the compact star is in a steady state and can be approximated by a perfect fluid with the following form of the equation of state (EoS)<sup>1</sup>,

$$\rho = 3p + 4\sqrt{\frac{3m^4p}{2\lambda_4}} \tag{5}$$

where p and  $\rho$  are the pressure and energy density, respectively. It is then easy to see that this kind of equation of state can yield compact stars by solving the TOV equation as long as (4) holds. Besides, due to the simplicity of this model, the cross-section of the self-scattering can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> However, in the form of (5) it is more clear to see how the mass and self-coupling modify the EoS from  $\rho = 3p$ , which is the one for the free massless scalar.

obtained to be  $\sigma_{\rm DM} = \frac{9\lambda^2}{16\pi m^2}$ , by which we can translate the constraint (1) into the following [88]

$$30\left(\frac{m}{\text{GeV}}\right)^{3/2} < \lambda_4 < 90\left(\frac{m}{\text{GeV}}\right)^{3/2}.$$
 (6)

Given the mass m, this constrains the self-interaction  $\lambda_4$ in a very narrow window. This is good for falsifying the model by other constraints, such as the DS candidates from GW events.

Motivated by [87], one can consider other selfinteracting bosonic field theories as possible DM candidates, which, most importantly, can also yield compact stars and solve dark halo problems. We now know that the Higgs field is a typical self-interacting scalar. Higher theories for the UV completion of standard model or gravity, such as grand unified theory or string theory, can invoke more scalars with exotic interactions, for example, the dilatons and axons. On the other hand, from the bottom up, we can also have the boson field as the mean field for the Bose-Einsten condensation to yield some superfluid/superconductor states, which can also be the ingredient for the DM and compact boson stars. Later, we will discuss these possibilities and the associated EoSs and boson star configurations.

#### 3. Composite models

The collisionless CDM encounters difficulty explaining the core density profile, missing satellites, and the toobig-to-fail problems described in previous sections. The idea that DM is composed of new fundamental particles was proposed. This kind of DM is often called Dark nuclei or Dark atoms. The mechanism is to assume the strongly coupled fundamental particles form composite states similar to the quarks form hadrons. In general, due to the hypothetical strong force, the van der Waals force will produce the effects of DM self-interaction. In such cases, the problems of small-scale structure formation can be reconciled. One of the advantages of this scenario is that one may have a series of mass spectra of new composite particles. The variety of composite states could be used to explain DM existence and provide the excess of cosmic rays and DM abundance. We know of large self-interactions among the composite hadrons via the strong nuclear force in the SM. It is, therefore, natural to imagine and investigate the hypothesis that DM-DM self-interactions arise from a new but similar type of composite dynamics. Although suitable parameters and mechanisms to produce the correct relic abundance and the mass spectrum are necessary, in the present Universe, the mass density of DM is about five times larger than that of the SM baryon. This coincidence can be naturally explained when the DM number density has the exact origin as the baryon asymmetry of the Universe, and the DM particle mass is in the GeV range. Such a framework is called asymmetric dark matter (ADM). It is interesting to notice that the mass scale of DM is

around the GeV range for various ADM models. In particular, the scarcity of anti-particles in the thermal bath can allow the formation of larger composite bound states like dark nuclei and dark atoms, leading to a very rich phenomenology.

The typical idea behind such Composite DM models is to provide a stable DM candidate thanks to accidental symmetries in the Lagrangian, similar to proton stability and baryon number conservation in QCD. The visible sector is thus enlarged with a Dark Sector (DS) made of new fermions  $\psi$ , called dark quarks with quantum numbers of Dark Color based on a certain non-Abelian gauge symmetry such as SU(N) or SO(N). The dark quarks are assumed to be in the fundamental representation of dark color and vector-like representation under the SM. The Lagrangian is given by

$$L_{DS} = -\frac{1}{4} G_D^{\mu\nu,a} G_{D\mu\nu,a} + \bar{\psi}_i (i\gamma_\mu D^\mu - m_\psi) \psi_i + y_{ij} \psi_i \psi_j H + h.c.$$
(7)

Here, the vector-fermion of dark quark  $\psi$  is assumed, and its mass  $m_{\psi}$  is a gauge-invariant quantity. The mass spectrum of bound states of  $\psi$  is related to the confinement scale  $\Lambda_{DS}$  as an analogy to QCD. The cosmological abundance of DM can also be determined by  $\Lambda_{DS}$ .

It is also interesting to notice that a new fundamental fermion with QCD  $SU(3)_C$  fundamental representation or adjoint representation can form the bound states that satisfy DM's features. The mass scale of such DM lies around 12.5 TeV.

Here, we illustrate the idea of composite DM by introducing a compelling model named "Quark Nugget Dark Matter." The original idea was based on ref. [89] and other proposals afterin [90–93]. In this kind of model, the DM is formed by quark and/or antiquark nuggets of huge baryon density (the baryon number is of the order of  $|B| > 10^{25}$ ). The nuggets were produced during the QCD phase transition with a correlation length of the order of the inverse of axion mass  $(m_a^{-1})$ . At the same time, its stability is protected by the axion domain walls [94]. An additional feature of this model is the explanation of the matter-antimatter asymmetry via the strong CP axion  $\theta$  term, and the abundance of the visible matter to DM matter densities is close to the observed ratio 1:5. Therefore, in the case of the Quark Nugget model, the fundamental interaction between DM and the ordinary matter is strong interaction rather than the weekly coupled strength. Its abundance is provided by the ratio  $\frac{\Omega_{\text{visible}}}{\Omega_{DM}} \approx \frac{1}{5}$ , while due to their large masses, the number density is small. As a result, this model satisfies current DM direct and indirect observations. The M-R relations of DS composed by the Quark Nuggets are not clear at the moment, and one may resolve the question if the effective theory for the large baryon number fields could be obtained. Finally, one commend to make that our review paper is to study the potential GW signals of DS. An obvious question is the formation of DS, and we found it is generically difficult for the DM fields to provide a good mechanism. The quark nuggets or composite DM models might solve the puzzle.

#### 4. Primordial black holes

The first discussion on the formation of BH in the early universe was given by Zeldovich and Novikov in 1967 [95]. Independently, Hawking focused on the gravitationally collapsed object with much smaller masses in the early universe in 1971 [96]. Furthermore, the popular model of PBH due to the inhomogeneities of the early Universe was proposed by Carr and Hawking in 1974 [97]. Additionally, the idea of PBH regarded as DM was first proposed by Capline in 1975 [98].

Due to the quantum properties of BH proposed by Hawking, one would be interested in the well-known evaporation effect [99, 100]. From the discussion, PBH with a mass larger than  $10^{15}$ g are unaffected by Hawking radiation, and the corresponding lifetime is long enough than the age of the Universe [96, 101]. Recall from the constraint of Big Bang nucleosynthesis (BBN); the baryon energy density is at most 5% of critical density [102]. Ordinary BH are formed at late times, all baryonic, and cannot be the candidate for DM. However, PBH are formed in the radiation-dominated era (RD) before BBN and are not constrained by BBN results. Therefore, the non-baryonic property of PBH leads them to cold dark matter (CDM) candidates. PBH mass spectrum and their relic abundance have been estimated in [103]. In addition, the possible mass windows of PBH have been reviewed in [104]. All the up-to-date constraints of PBH are discussed in [105].

Below, we give a sketch of the basics of PBH. For more details, the readers can find in recent reviews [104–107].

a. Formation— The PBH mass can be estimated through the energy density at the RD. The equation of state can be described in the simple form of  $p = w\rho$  with w = 1/3 at RD. So the energy density and scale factor are given by  $\rho \propto a^{-4}$  and  $a \propto t^{1/2}$ . The PBH mass would approximately have an order of horizon mass [96, 97]

$$M_{\rm PBH} \sim M_{\rm H} \sim \frac{c^3 t}{G} \sim 10^{15} \left(\frac{t}{10^{-23} \text{ s}}\right) \text{g} \sim 10^5 \left(\frac{t}{1 \text{ s}}\right) M_{\odot}$$
(8)

So PBH can have mass about  $10^{-5}$  g and  $10^5 M_{\odot}$  if they form at Planck time  $t_{\rm pl} \sim 10^{-43}$  s and  $t \sim 1$  s respectively. There are other formation mechanisms, for example, models of pressure reduction [108–110], cosmic string loops [111–115], vacuum bubbles [116–122], domain walls [123–125] and string necklaces [126, 127].

The most popular formation model is the gravitational collapse of overdense regions in the early RD universe [96]. This mechanism can be easily realized by connecting density perturbation with curvature perturbation. One can consider a homogeneous and isotropic universe described by a spatially flat Robertson–Walker (RW) universe with the scale factor a(t), and its dynamical evolution is governed by the background Friedmann equation

$$H^2 = \frac{8\pi G}{3}\bar{\rho},\tag{9}$$

where  $H := \dot{a}/a$  with  $\dot{a} \equiv da/dt$  and  $\bar{\rho}$  is the background energy density. However, we expect a PBH to form at a dense local region, and the energy density could be understood to be perturbed. The locally perturbed region is approximately a spherically symmetric region of positive curvature K and can be described by the metric of the closed universe model, and its dynamical evolution is again governed by the Friedmann equation but with perturbed energy density,

$$H^2 = \frac{8\pi G}{3}\rho - \frac{K}{a^2}.$$
 (10)

As a result, the density contrast should be

$$\delta := \frac{\rho - \bar{\rho}}{\bar{\rho}} = \frac{K}{H^2 a^2}.$$
(11)

The density contrast  $\delta$  will evolve up to the order of unity at the time of PBH formation  $t_{\rm f}$ , which implies  $K/a^2 = 8\pi G\rho/3$ . The collapse can be described by Jeans' instability if the length scale is greater than the Jeans' length

$$\lambda_{\rm J} = \frac{2\pi a}{k_{\rm J}} \sim \frac{c_s}{H} = c_s t_{\rm f} \tag{12}$$

where the Jeans wavenumber is

$$k_{\rm J} = \frac{a}{c_s} \sqrt{4\pi G\bar{\rho}} \approx \frac{a}{c_s} H. \tag{13}$$

Thus, we obtain  $\delta(t_{\rm f}) = \frac{K}{c_s^2 k_{\rm J}^2}$ . Since  $\delta(t_{\rm f}) \simeq 1$ , this leads to

$$K \approx c_s^2 k_{\rm J}^2$$
, at  $t = t_{\rm f}$ . (14)

Since the density fluctuation freezes after crossing the horizon, that determines the spectrum of density contrast. The fluctuation with wavenumber k exits the horizon at  $t_k$  when  $k = H(t_k)a(t_k)$ . Thus, the density contrast for mode k is

$$\delta(t_k) = \frac{K}{H^2(t_k)a^2(t_k)} = \frac{c_s^2 k_{\rm J}^2}{k^2} > \frac{c_s^2 k_{\rm J}^2}{k_{\rm J}^2} = c_s^2.$$
(15)

Thus, in the RD era, we can obtain the threshold value

$$\delta_c := c_s^2 = \frac{dp}{d\rho} = w = \frac{1}{3}.$$
 (16)

$$f = \frac{\Omega_{\rm PBH,0}}{\Omega_{\rm DM,0}} \quad \text{and} \quad \beta = \frac{\Omega_{\rm PBH,f}}{\Omega_{\rm R,f}} = \frac{\Omega_{\rm PBH,0}}{\Omega_{\rm R,0}} a_{\rm f}, \quad (17)$$

where  $\Omega(z) = \rho(z)/\rho_c$  is the energy density parameter. Through the condition of matter-radiation equality  $\rho_{\rm R,eq} = \rho_{\rm DM,eq}$ , or  $\Omega_{\rm R,0} = \Omega_{\rm DM,0} a_{\rm eq}$  with  $a_{\rm eq} = a(t_{\rm eq})$ , we can a relation of mass fractions of PBH

$$f = \frac{a_{\rm eq}}{a_{\rm f}}\beta = \frac{1+z_{\rm f}}{1+z_{\rm eq}}\beta,\tag{18}$$

with  $z_{\rm eq} \approx 3500$ .

The size of the PBH formed at  $t_{\rm f}$  will approximately be the contemporary Hubble radius. From the Friedmann equation in the RD era,

$$H_{\rm f}^2 = \frac{8\pi G}{3}\bar{\rho}_{\rm f} = \frac{4\pi^3 G}{45}g_{*,\rm f}T_{\rm f}^4 , \qquad (19)$$

the Hubble radius at the formation time will be

$$a_{\rm f} \propto g_{*,{\rm f}}^{-1/4} T_{\rm f}^{-1}.$$
 (20)

Moreover, we can also determine the typical mass of PBH, which is the mass contained inside the Hubble horizon, i.e.,

$$M_{\rm PBH} = \gamma M_{\rm H}(t_{\rm f}) = \gamma \bar{\rho}_{\rm f} \frac{4\pi}{3} H_{\rm f}^{-3} = \frac{\gamma}{2G} H_{\rm f}^{-1}.$$
 (21)

where  $\gamma$  is a numerical efficiency factor and depends on the details of gravitational collapse, which can be evaluated as  $\gamma \approx 0.2$  [103]. See also (8) for the numerical values of the mass span of PBH.

To estimate the initial abundance of PBH at the formation time, the energy density contrast should be larger than its threshold value  $\delta_c$ . If the distribution of primordial density perturbations fluctuations is assumed to be a Gaussian distribution

$$P_g(\delta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma(M_{\rm PBH})} \exp\left(\frac{\delta^2}{2\sigma^2(M_{\rm PBH})}\right)$$
(22)

with deviation  $\sigma(M_{\rm PBH})$  obtained by

$$\sigma(M_{\rm PBH}) = \int \frac{dk}{k} \, \mathcal{P}_{\delta}(k) \, W^2(k), \qquad (23)$$

where  $\mathcal{P}_{\delta}$  is the power spectrum of the density fluctuation and W(k) is the windows function of the scale 1/(aH). The mass distribution function of PBH can be evaluated according to the Press-Schechter theory [128], and the result is

$$\beta(M_{\rm PBH}) = \int_{\delta_c}^{\infty} \gamma P_g(\delta) d\delta = \frac{\gamma}{2} \operatorname{erfc} \nu_c \approx \frac{\gamma}{2} \frac{e^{-\nu_c^2}}{\sqrt{\pi}\nu_c}.$$
 (24)

where we have defined  $\nu = \delta/(\sqrt{2}\sigma)$ , and the complementary error function erfc  $z = 1 - \text{erf } z = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{z}^{\infty} e^{-t^{2}} dt \approx e^{-z^{2}}$ 

$$\frac{e}{\sqrt{\pi z}}$$
.

In summary, we see that the mass spectrum of PBH covers a wide range. This will contrast the mass spectrum of DS with a limited mass spectrum constrained by the equation of state for DM.

Moreover, two exciting observations of supermassive BH (SMBH) in the supergiant elliptical galaxy Messier 87 (M87), and in the Milky Way's center are given by the Event Horizon Telescope (EHT). The formation of SMBH is still a mystery in the field of research. It is concluded by Volonteri that the stellar remnant BH of the accretion is hardly a progenitor of the initial mass of the SMBH [129]. However, the sufficiently large PBH might grow enough by accretion and could still constitute the seeds for the SMBH [130, 131]. Recent observational event of GW190521 from GW by LIGO-Virgo detectors shows the first detection of the intermediate-mass BH (IMBH) [132]. The merger event of GW190521 indicates one of the components is more massive than the mass gap of BH, which could be accounted for by a PBH origin. Of course, these events could also be explained as the black-hole mimickers of some DS, which we will review below.

## III. DARK AND HYBRID STARS

#### A. Compact stars and equation of state

BH are the most compact astrophysical objects, so their mergers can produce detectable strong GW to distant observers. By definition, the compactness C := $M/r_H$  of a BH is 0.5 in the  $G = c = \hbar = 1$  units. To have compact objects other than BH produce detectable GW by ground-based detectors, the compactness of such objects should be comparable to the ones of  $BH^2$ , for example, around 0.1 to 0.3. This requires some repulsive force of dense matter to counteract the immense gravitational inward force in the late stage of gravitational collapse to avoid the formation of BH. Such an enduring force is so huge that such matter phase is exotic and cannot be found or formed in the Earth's experiments. That is, they can only form in the strong gravity regions of the Universe. Once formed, these matter phases have the exotic equation of states uncommon to daily life.

One natural origin of such repulsive force is the degenerate pressure of fermions. For example, the electrons' degenerate pressure helps to form the white dwarfs whose

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Binary white dwarfs are much less compact but are standard space-based detectors (like eLISA) sources. The scaling of the Newtonian estimate for the merger frequency with compactness and mass is given explicitly in [133].

C's are about  $10^{-3}$ . Reaching the compactness comparable to BH requires higher degenerate pressure provided by neutrons or quarks. This is why NS are the most natural candidates as the sources of GW besides BH. However, due to the complication of nuclear theory, such as quantum chromodynamics of describing the neutron or quark fluids, it is hard to derive the EoS of the dense nuclear matter from even the first principle method. Despite that, there are many proposed EoS obtained from alternative or hybrid methods for the dense nuclear matter inside the NS, such as SLy4 [134], Apr4 [135] and SKb [136]. We may expect this EoS to be pinned down by observing enough GW events of BNS mergers or supernovae, EM observations from NICER, etc. [137].

On the other hand, the DM with interactions opens avenues to the exotic equations of state. The simplest equation of states from the free fermionic DM of mass mtakes the following form [33]

$$\rho = \frac{m^4}{8\pi^2} \left[ x\sqrt{1+x^2}(2x^2+1) - \ln(x+\sqrt{1+x^2}) \right], (25)$$
$$p = \frac{m^4}{8\pi^2} \left[ x\sqrt{1+x^2}(2x^2/3-1) + \ln(x+\sqrt{1+x^2}) \right] (26)$$

where  $x = k_F/m$  with  $k_F$  the Fermi momentum. One can also add various interactions to the fermions to obtain more equations of state. As we will see later, some of these equations of state can yield compactness comparable to one of the BH.

Besides the fermionic DM, there also exist bosonic ones. Unlike the fermions, the bosons have no degenerate pressure. Therefore, we will not expect to form compact stars from the free bosons. On the other hand, it is natural to expect that the bosonic DM can have selfinteraction, as discussed earlier, even though they almost do not interact with standard model particles. Hence, the self-interacting force provides the enduring force against gravitational collapse. Indeed, the self-interactions provide exotic state equations to form the compact boson stars. The first example is proposed in [87] for the scalar with the potential  $V(\phi) = \frac{m^2}{2} |\phi|^2 + \frac{\lambda_4}{4} |\phi|^4$  theory, which yields the following equation of state in the isotropic limit  $(\frac{\lambda}{m^2} \gg 1)$ ,

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \frac{3p}{\rho_{\odot}} + \mathcal{B}_4 \sqrt{\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}}} \tag{27}$$

where  $\mathcal{B}_4 = \frac{0.08}{\sqrt{\lambda_4}} (\frac{m}{\text{GeV}})^2$  a free parameter. In the above, we have adopted the astrophysical units associated with the solar mass  $M_{\odot}$ :

$$r_{\odot} = G_N M_{\odot}/c^2, \quad \rho_{\odot} = M_{\odot}/r_{\odot}^3, \quad p_{\odot} = c^2 \rho_{\odot}.$$
 (28)

To follow the same line, one can obtain more exotic equations of state for various self-interacting dark boson models. Below, we give some examples. The first example is the extension of [87] with  $V(\phi) = \frac{m^2}{2} |\phi|^2 + \frac{1}{n} \frac{\lambda_n}{\Phi_0^{n-4}} |\phi|^n$ . This model has an approximate good UV  $Z_n$  symmetry. The corresponding isotropic EoS is

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \frac{n+2}{n-2} \frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}} + \mathcal{B}_n (\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}})^{\frac{2}{n}}$$
(29)

where  $\mathcal{B}_n = (\frac{2n}{n-2})^{\frac{2}{n}} (\frac{\rho_{n,0}}{\rho_{\odot}})^{1-\frac{2}{n}}$  with  $\rho_{n,0} = \frac{m^2 M_{\text{pl}}^2}{4\pi\Lambda_n}$  with  $\Lambda_n = (\lambda_n \frac{\Phi_0^2}{m^2})^{\frac{2}{n-2}} \frac{M_{\text{pl}}^2}{\Phi_0^2}$ , and  $M_{\text{pl}}$  the planck mass. The isotropic limit holds when  $\Lambda_n \gg 1$ .

The second example is the Liouville field with  $V(\phi) = \frac{m^2}{2\beta^2} \left[ e^{\beta^2 |\phi|^2} - 1 \right]$ , which is a typical dilaton field in the context of low energy string theory. The corresponding isotropic EoS is parametrized as follows:

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\left(\sigma_*^2 e^{\sigma_*^2} + e^{\sigma_*^2} - 1\right), \qquad (30)$$

$$\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\left(\sigma_*^2 e^{\sigma_*^2} - e^{\sigma_*^2} - 1\right), \qquad (31)$$

where the free parameter  $\mathcal{B} = \frac{\rho_0}{\rho_{\odot}}$  with  $\rho_0 = \frac{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2}{4\pi\Lambda}$  and  $\Lambda = \beta M_{\rm pl}$ . The parameter  $\sigma_*$  is the scaled  $\phi$ , and the isotropic limit holds when  $\Lambda \gg 1$ . From this EoS, we can solve the TOV equation and find that the maximum compactness of the stable stars is 0.194.

ł

The third example is cosh-Gordon field with  $V(\phi) = \frac{m^2}{\beta^2} [\cosh(\beta \sqrt{|\phi|^2}) - 1]$ . This model is motivated by the vortex dynamics of the superfluid and can be seen as a kind of superfluid DM. The corresponding EoS in the isotropic limit is

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\left(\frac{1}{2}\sigma_* \sinh \sigma_* + \cosh \sigma_* - 1\right), \quad (32)$$

$$\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\left(\frac{1}{2}\sigma_* \sinh \sigma_* - \cosh \sigma_* + 1\right).$$
(33)

The free parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  is defined as in the case of Liouville field, so are the parameter  $\Lambda$  with  $\Lambda \gg 1$  the isotropic limit. The maximum compactness of the stable stars from this EoS is 0.182.

The fourth example is the sine-Gordon field with  $V(\phi) = \frac{m^2}{\beta^2} [1 - \cos(\beta \sqrt{|\phi|^2})]$ . This model is a typical one for the axion field. The corresponding EoS in the isotropic limit is

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\left(\frac{1}{2}\sigma_*\sin\sigma_* - \cos\sigma_* + 1\right), \qquad (34)$$

$$\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\left(\frac{1}{2}\sigma_*\sin\sigma_* + \cos\sigma_* - 1\right).$$
(35)

The free parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  is defined as in the case of Liouville field, so are the parameter  $\Lambda$  with  $\Lambda \gg 1$  the isotropic limit. However, this type of EoS has the sinusoidal feature, yielding sensible compact stars only for some range of  $\sigma_*$ .

The last example is the one for constructing the non-topological soliton stars [138–140] with  $V(\phi)$  =

 $\frac{1}{2}m^2|\phi|^2(1-\beta^2|\phi|^2)^2.$  The corresponding EoS in the isotropic limit is

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\sigma_*^2 (1 - \sigma_*^2) (1 - 2\sigma_*^2) , \qquad (36)$$

$$\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}\sigma_*^4(\sigma_*^2 - 1).$$
(37)

The free parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  is defined as in the case of Liouville field, so are the parameter  $\Lambda$  with  $\Lambda \gg 1$  the isotropic limit.

In Fig. 2, we compare the behaviors of the above EoSs.



FIG. 2: An illustration of the abovementioned EoSs shows their relative behaviors. The adjusting parameters  $\mathcal{B}_n$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  are chosen to make the maximal masses of the boson stars have several solar masses. We consider p up to  $10^{-3}$  since the typical range of the corresponding central pressure is between  $10^{-6}$  to  $10^{-2}$  as a reference. Here  $\rho$  and p are measured in the unit of  $\rho_{\odot}$ .

#### B. Tolman-Oppenheimer-Volkoff equations

The EoSs give the relation between  $\rho$  and p, then the mass and radius of the star can be fixed through the following procedure.

For a static star with spherical symmetry, consider the Schawarzchild metric

$$ds^{2} = -e^{2\phi(r)}c^{2}dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{2G_{N}m(r)}{rc^{2}}\right)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega.$$
 (38)

Or, for later convenience,

$$ds^{2} = -B(r)dt^{2} + A(r)dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega.$$
(39)

The Einstein equations read,

$$G^{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi}{c^4} G_N T^{\mu\nu},$$
 (40)

where  $G^{\mu\nu}$  can be constructed from the expression of the metric  $g^{\mu\nu},$  and the energy-momentum tensor is

$$T^{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p/c^2)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu}.$$
(41)

Especially in the static case, we can choose  $u^{\mu} = (c, 0, 0, 0)$ .

Then, from the Einstein equation and the conservation of the energy-momentum tensor, one can obtain the TOV equations [141, 142], and here we present its multi-component version [143, 144] with the convention of G = c = 1:

$$\frac{dp_I}{dr} = -(\rho_I + p_I)\frac{d\phi}{dr}, \quad \frac{dm_I}{dr} = 4\pi r^2 \rho, \quad \frac{d\phi}{dr} = \frac{m + 4\pi r^3 p}{r(r - 2m)},$$
(42)

where I marks different fluids,  $m(r) = \sum_{I} m_{I}$  is the total mass inside radius r, total pressure  $p = \sum_{I} p_{I}$ , and total energy density  $\rho = \sum_{I} \rho_{I}$  with the contribution from each fluid, and the Newton potential  $\phi := \frac{1}{2} \ln(-g_{tt})$  is introduced in the metric (38). Taking the single component case, for example, since there are four unknowns as functions of r but with only three equations, we need one more equation to solve them. In this case, the EoS provides the relation between p and  $\rho$ .

Given the initial pressure in the center, we can obtain the solution with those equations. The size of the star radius R is taken when p(r = R) = 0, and the total star mass M is given by m(R).

#### C. Tidal Love number

When a static and spherically symmetric star is located under an external quadrupolar tidal field  $\mathcal{E}_{ij}$ , it develops a quadrupole moment  $Q_{ij}$ , both appeared in the metric at large distance r [145–147],

$$g_{tt} = -1 + \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{3Q_{ij}}{r^3} \left(\frac{x^i x^j}{r^2} - \frac{1}{3}\delta^{ij}\right) + O\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right) -\mathcal{E}_{ij}x^i x^j + O\left(r^3\right),$$
(43)

where M = m(R) is the star's total mass.

Then the Tidal Love number (TLN)  $\Lambda$  is introduced, defined by the coefficient to linear order,

$$Q_{\mu\nu} = -M^5 \Lambda \, \mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{44}$$

Affected by the external tidal field, the metric also suffers a perturbation  $h_{\mu\nu}$ , and to its linear order, we have

$$g_{\mu\nu} = g^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{45}$$

where  $g^{(0)}_{\mu\nu}$  stands for the unperturbed BH metric. Apply the Regge-Wheeler gauge and restrict to the l = 2, static and even-parity perturbations,  $h_{\mu\nu}$  can be expressed as

$$h_{\mu\nu} = Y_{2m}(\theta, \varphi) \times$$
diag  $\left[ e^{-\nu(r)} H_0(r), \ e^{\lambda(r)} H_2(r), \ r^2 K(r), \ r^2 \sin^2 \theta K(r) \right].$ 
(46)

Then, from the perturbed Einstein equation, we find that  $H_2 = H_0 \equiv H$ , which satisfies the differential equation:

$$0 = H'' + H' \left[ \frac{2}{r} + e^{\lambda} \left( \frac{2m(r)}{r^2} + 4\pi r \left( p - \rho \right) \right) \right] + H \left[ -\frac{6e^{\lambda}}{r^2} + 4\pi e^{\lambda} \left( 5\rho + 9p + \frac{\rho + p}{(dp/d\rho)} \right) - {\nu'}^2 \right].$$
(47)

For later convenience, we can introduce y(r) := rH'(r)/H(r), then the second order differential equation for H becomes first order:

$$ry' + y^2 + Py + r^2Q = 0, (48)$$

where

$$P(r) = (1 + 4\pi r^2 (p - \rho)) / (1 - 2m/r),$$
(49)

$$Q(r) = 4\pi \frac{5\rho + 9p + \sum_{I} \frac{p_{I} + p_{I}}{dp_{I}/d\rho_{I}} - \frac{\sigma}{4\pi r^{2}}}{1 - 2m/r} - 4\phi'^{2}, \quad (50)$$

and the boundary condition is now simply y(0) = 2. Notice that the above equations apply to the multi-fluid case, which is also rigorously derived from the Einstein equation, and the main difference from the single-fluid case is encoded in the  $\sum_{I} \frac{\rho_I + p_I}{dp_I/d\rho_I}$  term of (50).

Once (48) is solved, the TLN  $\Lambda$  can be obtained from an expression[147, 148] of  $Y \equiv y(R)$  and the "compactness" C = M/R,

$$\Lambda = \frac{16}{15} (1 - 2C)^2 [2 + 2C (Y - 1) - Y] \times \left\{ 2C (6 - 3Y + 3C(5Y - 8)) + 4C^3 [13 - 11Y + C(3Y - 2) + 2C^2(1 + Y)] + 3(1 - 2C)^2 [2 - Y + 2C(Y - 1)] \log (1 - 2C) \right\}^{-1}.$$
(51)

# D. Scaling symmetry of TOV and TLN configurations

By taking a close look into the Mass-Radius curves and TLN-Mass curves for the same series of EoSs, we find that there is a scaling symmetry in the TOV equations and the TLN equation. For the self-similarity in M-R curves, later, we notice that it is already discovered in [33] with an equivalent description, i.e., rewriting TOV into a dimensionless form. While for TLN-Mass curves, the observation is new.

The EoS can usually be described by a pair of parameter functions in the form of

$$\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}f(\sigma_*), \qquad (52)$$

$$\frac{p}{\rho_{\odot}} = \mathcal{B}g(\sigma_*), \qquad (53)$$

where f and g are some arbitrary functions, and  $\mathcal{B}$  is a control parameter. Then we can confirm that, if  $\mathcal{B} \to k\mathcal{B}$ , then  $p \to kp$  is consistent with  $\rho \to k\rho$ .

And it is easy to check that the TOV equation is invariant under the symmetric transformation:

$$\rho \rightarrow k\rho,$$
(54)

$$p \rightarrow kp$$
, (55)

$$m \rightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}m,$$
 (56)

$$r \rightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}r.$$
 (57)

That is to say, if we set  $\mathcal{B} \to k\mathcal{B}$ , then the variables change according to the above, while the "compactness" C = M/R remains the same.

Furthermore, TLN also has the same symmetry. From the previous section, it is obvious that  $\Lambda$  does not change if we alter  $p \to kp$  and  $\rho \to k\rho$  simultaneously, since then we have  $m \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}m$  and  $r \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}r$ , while H and  $\Lambda$  are homogeneous

$y_i$	$x_i$	$a_i$	$b_i$	$c_i$	$d_i$	$e_i$
$\bar{I}$	$ar{\lambda}^{(\mathrm{tid})}$	1.47	0.0817	0.0149	$2.87\times10^{-4}$	$-3.64\times10^{-5}$
$\bar{I}$	$\bar{Q}$	1.35	0.697	-0.143	$9.94\times10^{-2}$	$-1.24\times10^{-2}$
$\bar{Q}$	$\bar{\lambda}^{(\mathrm{tid})}$	0.194	0.0936	0.0474	$-4.21\times10^{-3}$	$1.23\times 10^{-4}$

TABLE I: (Taken from [149]). The fitting values in (58) for the I-Love-Q relations, extracted from 7 NS EoS and 3 QS EoS.

functions in the order of m and r so that the  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}$  scalings will all cancel out.

That is to say, if the EoS can be written in the form of (52) and (53) when we alter the parameter  $\mathcal{B} \to k\mathcal{B}$ , the M-R curves will be similar figures with the ratio of  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}$ . In contrast, the TLN-M curves will be magnified by  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}$  only the *M* axis alone. The maximum compactness and the minimum TLN will remain unchanged when changing  $\mathcal{B}$ .

We must emphasize that one analytic EoS is generally easy to rewrite in the form of (52) and (53). For example, if we consider a polytropic EoS  $\rho = \alpha p^{\gamma}$ , then it is equivalent to set  $f(\sigma_*) = \sigma_*, g(\sigma_*) = \sigma_*^{\gamma}$  and  $\mathcal{B} = \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\gamma}}$ .

#### E. I-Love-Q relation

A neutron star (NS) or quark star (Q) is characterized by macroscopic quantities such as mass M, spin angular momentum J, angular velocity  $\Omega$ , the moment of inertia  $I = J/\Omega$ , quadrupole moment Q and TLN  $\Lambda$  (or their dimensionless counterparts  $\bar{I} = I/M^3$ ,  $\bar{Q} = -Q/(MJ^2)$ , and  $\bar{\Lambda} = \Lambda/M^5$ , respectively). Since these macroscopic quantities are selfconsistently determined from the dynamical equations with a definite EoS, they should depend strongly on the EoS. Surprisingly, it is observed [149] that some of these quantities obey universal relations, which are not sensitive to the EoS. They relate the reduced quantities  $\bar{I}, \bar{\Lambda}$  and  $\bar{Q}$ , and are named as *I-Love-Q* relations.

In detail, taking any two of those above three reduced quantities and denoting them as  $y_i$  and  $x_i$ , the *I-Love-Q* relations take the following form on a log-log scale,

$$\ln y_i = a_i + b_i \ln x_i + c_i (\ln x_i)^2 + d_i (\ln x_i)^3 + e_i (\ln x_i)^4,$$
 (58)

with all the coefficients shown in Table I, which barely varied while changing the EoS. For NS, those coefficients are fitted using six phenomenological EoS including APR [135], SLy [134], LS220 [150], Shen [151], PS [152] and PCL2 [153], and one polytropic EoS  $\rho = Kp^{1/2}$ . For QS, three EoS are applied: SQM1, SQM2, and SQM3 [153].

We also report that similar relationships exist for DS EoS [154], as the  $\bar{I}$ - $\bar{\Lambda}$  relation illustrated in Fig. 3, and also the  $\bar{I}$ - $\bar{Q}$  and  $\bar{Q}$ - $\bar{\Lambda}$  relations. In fact, for  $\phi_n$  EoS, the relation coincides with the neutron star case, with a slight deviation starting from n = 8. This is predictable because when p is small, they reduce to single polytropic neutron EoS  $\rho = p^{\gamma}$ , with  $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1/2$ , and it is the small p part that dominates the behavior of I-Love-Q relation. The Liouville EoS and cosh-Gordon EoS share the same type of I-Love-Q relation as the neutron case, implying that the I-Love-Q relation is universal for compact stars.



FIG. 3: (Taken from [154]). The relation between reduced moment-of-inertia  $\overline{I}$  and tidal Love number  $\overline{\Lambda}$ for 4 DS EoS.

#### F. Hybrid stars

Due to the mixture of baryonic matter and DM in the Universe, it is reasonable to speculate the existence of hybrid stars made of both. Since DM almost does not interact with the baryonic ones, and we have little idea of the nature of DM, it is hard to pin down the internal structure of the hybrid stars. By simply classifying the geometric setup, we can have three types of hybrid stars [155, 156]. The first type (called Scenario I) is to have a neutron core covered by a DM shell, and the second type (called Scenario II) is to have a DM core covered by a neutron shell. Admittedly, we do not have a mechanism to form a robust domain wall between the core and the shell, such as the one usually adopted by the mechanism of spontaneous symmetry breaking; we assume some unknown mechanism may support such kinds of hybrid stars. Therefore, a more natural type (called Scenario III) is to have mixed baryonic and DM in the inner core but with one of them left in the outer shell. Due to the different inner structures, these hybrid stars should have different mass-radius relations and tidal deformability, which can be distinguished among themselves and from the pure neutron and DS. Of course, this will add up the variety of compact stars and cause more difficulty when identifying the sources of the gravitational events. In [155, 156], all three scenarios have been studied and adopted to fit some GW events. Below, we will review some essential ingredients of hybrid stars in [155, 156].

#### 1. Junction conditions

Because of the domain wall structure inside the hybrid stars of Scenario I and II, we need to impose appropriate junction conditions when solving the TOV configurations and then calculating the associated tidal Love numbers. Before that, the first question is how to determine the inner core's size or the domain wall's position denoted by  $r_W$ , upon which we impose the junction condition. As we can imagine, the value of  $r_W$ should be related to the formation mechanism of the domain wall. Before we have such a mechanism to determine  $r_W$  dynamically, we can only treat it as a free parameter in Scenario I and II. On the other hand, in Scenario III,  $r_W$  can be determined by solving TOV equations for the pure neutron or DS.

Given the initial value for the core pressure, we then evolve the single-component TOV equations to obtain the pressure  $p_W$  at the domain wall located at  $r = r_W$ . We require the pressure to be continuous across the domain wall. Then there is a jump of energy density at the domain wall due to the change of the EoS, i.e.,  $\Delta \rho_p = \rho(p_W + 0) - \rho(p_W - 0)$ , or equivalently  $\Delta \rho_p = -(\rho(r_W + 0) - \rho(r_W - 0)) \equiv -\Delta \rho$  since p decreases as r increases. The discontinuity  $\Delta \rho_p$ , however, can be determined by requiring the continuity of the sound speed at the domain wall,

$$\frac{d\rho}{dp} = \frac{1}{c_s^2} = \left. \frac{d\rho}{dp} \right|_{p \neq p_W} + \Delta \rho_p \,\delta(p - p_W) \,. \tag{59}$$

Similarly, when calculating the TLN for a given TOV configuration of Scenario I and II hybrid stars, we need to integrate (48) across the domain wall. Only the terms proportional to  $\delta$ -function can contribute to this integration. Thus, (48) can be reduced to [148]

$$ry'(r)\big|_{r=r_W} + r^2 4\pi e^{\lambda(r)} \left(\rho(r) + p(r)\right) \frac{d\rho}{dp}\big|_{r=r_W} = 0. \quad (60)$$

Making use of  $\frac{d\rho}{dp} = \frac{d\rho}{dr} \frac{1}{dp/dr}$  and  $\frac{d\rho}{dr}|_{r=r_W} = \Delta \rho \, \delta(r - r_W)$ , we have

$$\Delta y \equiv y(r_W + 0) - y(r_W - 0) = \frac{\Delta \rho}{p + m(r_W)/(4\pi r_W^3)}.$$
 (61)

Then, the TOV and TLN for scenarios I and II can be solved using the above junction conditions.

#### 2. Stability criteria

After solving a TOV configuration, it is essential to check its stability by studying the linear perturbation. There are various linear modes; the simplest one is radial oscillation, which obeys the master equations derived from the linearized Einstein equation and conservation equation of stress tensor. If there is no growing mode, then the TOV configuration is stable. A detailed derivation for the master equation for a given set of the equation of states of multiple fluids can be found in [157], and its application to DM admixed NS can be found in [158]. By the same author, a direct study of the linear stability of the boson stars and hybrid stars based on the scalar-tensor theory can be found in [159, 160].

If limiting the discussion to a single-fluid star, Here we can introduce a more intuitive but empirical criterion based on the Sturm-Liouville analysis of the radial oscillation eigenmodes to judge the stability of the compact stars based on their mass-radius relation. This is the so-called Bardeen–Thorne–Meltzer (BTM) criteria [161]. The BTM criteria are stated as follows. In the direction of increasing the core pressure along the mass-radius curve, one stable mode becomes unstable whenever an extremum is passed in the counterclockwise sense. Reversely, an unstable mode becomes stable if an extremum is passed clockwise. The original BTM criteria require transversing the mass-radius curve

14

by starting from stable planet configurations with low enough core pressure. In practice, it is more useful to argue the BTM criteria in a reverse way by traveling along the mass-radius curve to decrease core pressure to avoid the requirement of the above initial condition. We call this Reverse BTM criteria [155, 156], which also applies to the multi-fluid cases, states as follows. Whenever an extremum is passed along the mass-radius curve in either direction of increasing or decreasing the core pressure, a stable mode becomes unstable if the curve bends counterclockwise. Otherwise, an unstable mode becomes stable.

By applying the Reverse BTM criteria, one can ascertain the unstable regime on the mass-radius curve but can only confirm the stable regime if starting the travel from a stable regime. Therefore, it is easy to find the stable regime on the M-R relation for the pure neutron or DS using the (Reverse) BTM criteria since we know the starting stable region.

#### 3. Examples

Up to the current observations of GW (GW) events, there is insufficient data and accuracy in telling the constituents of an observed compact star candidate. This is because the GW data can give the mass and inaccurate TLN, yielding high degeneracy in the parameter space when fitting the EoS. Therefore, it will not provide any sensible insight to identify the observed compact star candidate as some neutron, dark or hybrid star. Instead, we should use the GW data to fix the parameter of a given EoS. If we assume the DM model is unique for its associated EoS, the different observed compact candidates should yield the same EoS.

In [155, 156], we have adopted this strategy to obtain the parameters of some EoS by fitting to some GW events with some possible compact star candidates. For example, in [156], we have fitted the parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  of (27) for the GW190425 based on the Scenario I and II with three different choices of EoSs for the dense neutrons: SLy4 EoS [134], APR4 [135] and SKb [136]. The result is shown in Table II.

TYPE	Scena	ario I	Scenario II		
	$\mathcal{B}_4$	$r_W(\mathrm{km})$	$\mathcal{B}_4$	$r_W(\mathrm{km})$	
SLy4	$0.07\substack{+0.09 \\ -0.02}$	$6.44^{+1.98}_{-2.85}$	$0.05\substack{+0.04 \\ -0.02}$	$10.29^{+3.49}_{-4.10}$	
APR4	$0.07\substack{+0.10 \\ -0.02}$	$6.02^{+2.05}_{-2.74}$	$0.05\substack{+0.04\\-0.03}$	$9.98^{+3.46}_{-3.69}$	
SKb	$0.08\substack{+0.16 \\ -0.03}$	$6.95^{+2.06}_{-2.89}$	$0.05\substack{+0.05 \\ -0.03}$	$9.78^{+3.65}_{-4.23}$	

TABLE II: The inferred best-fitted values of the EoS parameter  $\mathcal{B}_4$  and the core-radius  $r_W$  for scenario I & II of hybrid stars, with three different EoSs for dense neutrons.

We see that the model parameters  $\mathcal{B}_4$  and  $r_W$  are not so sensitive to the chosen EoS for the dense neutrons. Moreover, if we also require the SIDM to explain the dark halo problems, then there is a further constraint on the cross-section  $\sigma_{\rm DM}$ of self-scattering, which means (6) should also be satisfied. Combining this constraint with the PE results of Table II, we can put the following constraints on the mass m and the coupling  $\lambda_4$  of  $\phi^4$  SIDM assuming SLy4 for the EoS of dense neutrons,

$$2.68 \text{GeV} < m < 10.53 \text{GeV}, \qquad 131 < \lambda_4 < 3076$$
 (62)

for the scenario I, and

$$1.78 \text{GeV} < m < 6.65 \text{GeV}, \qquad 71 < \lambda_4 < 1542$$
(63)

for scenario II. The future GW events with the compact star candidates can be used to rule out or reinforce the above prediction.

#### G. Possible formation mechanism

#### 1. Capture mechanism

The formation of a DS is an interesting issue, particularly for the potential signals of GW produced by such exotic stellar objects. Here, we provide a particle scale process of DM particles captured by stellar objects. Essentially, this mechanism is difficult for the DS formation since the capture DM number is too small compared with the stellar objects. An estimation for the capture DM mass to be around  $10^{11}$  kg for the Sun. The idea is similar to DM direct detection processes. An underground laboratory is needed to search for the signals of the collision between the DM and the detectors' nuclei (or electrons). DM mass and its coupling strength to SM particles are essential in the observation. The stellar DM will scatter with the massive stellar objects (i.e., the Sun or NS, etc.) and be captured by their gravitational wells if the scattered velocity is smaller than the escape velocity. On top of this, for the case that the DM has self-interaction, the capture rate is considerably enhanced [162]. In summary, the number evolution of the captured DM inside the stellar objects is given by

$$\frac{dN_{\chi}}{dt} = C_c - C_e N_{\chi} + C_s N_{\bar{\chi}} - (C_a + C_{se}) N_{\chi} N_{\bar{\chi}}, \qquad (64)$$

depending on various scattering processes among the DM and the stellar objects. Here  $C_c$  called the capture rate,  $C_e$  the evaporation rate,  $C_s$  the capture rate due to self-interaction,  $C_{se}$  the self-interaction induced evaporation rate, and  $C_a$  the annihilation rate. For different underlying assumptions,  $C_c$ can be divided into spin-independent (SI) interaction and spin-dependent (SD) interaction, respectively, because the distribution of nucleons in the nucleus plays a crucial role. The SD and SI interactions are given by

$$C_c^{\rm SD} \approx 3.35 \times 10^{24} \left(\frac{\rho_0}{0.3 \text{GeV/cm}^3}\right) \left(\frac{270 \text{km/s}}{\bar{v}}\right)^3 \\ \times \left(\frac{\text{GeV}}{m_{\chi}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\sigma^{\rm SD}}{10^{-6} \text{pb}}\right)$$
(65)

and

$$C_c^{\rm SI} \approx 1.24 \times 10^{24} \left(\frac{\rho_0}{0.3 \text{GeV/cm}^3}\right) \left(\frac{270 \text{km/s}}{\bar{v}}\right)^3 \\ \times \left(\frac{\text{GeV}}{m_{\chi}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{2.6\sigma_{\rm H}^{\rm SI} + 0.175\sigma_{\rm He}^{\rm SI}}{10^{-6} \text{pb}}\right)$$
(66)

respectively, where  $\rho_0$  is the local DM density and we take the typical DM density as a reference,  $\bar{v}$  is the velocity dispersion if DM is assumed to be thermally equilibrium,  $\sigma_{\rm H}^{\rm SD(SI)}$  and

 $\sigma_{\rm He}^{\rm SD(SI)}$  are the SD(SI) DM-hydrogen and DM-helium scattering cross sections. Because the collisions occur at the nonrelativistic limit, the cross-section is inversely proportional to  $m_{\chi}^2$ . Here  $m_{\chi}$  is the DM mass.

 $C_e$  in the second term of Eq. (64) refers to the DM evaporation. This captured DM can be kicked out while scattering with the stellar nucleus. The DM evaporation rate not only depends on the DM mass but also the stellar object's gravitational potential distribution [163, 164]. We take the Sun as an example; it is expressed as

$$C_e \approx \frac{8}{\pi^3} \sqrt{\frac{2m_\chi}{\pi T_\chi(\bar{r})}} \frac{v_{\rm esc}^2(0)}{\bar{r}^3} \exp\left(-\frac{m_\chi v_{\rm esc}^2(0)}{2T_\chi(\bar{r})}\right) \Sigma_{\rm evap}, \quad (67)$$

where  $v_{\rm esc}(0)$  is the escape velocity from the core of the Sun, and  $T_{\chi}$  is the DM temperature in the Sun, which corresponds to its average kinetic energy.  $\bar{r}$  is the average DM orbit radius, which is the mean DM distance from the solar center, and  $\Sigma_{\rm evap}$  is the sum of the scattering cross-sections of all the nuclei within a radius  $r_{95\%}$ , where the solar temperature has dropped to 95% of the DM temperature. The exponential distribution is due to the DM thermal distribution in the core region of the stellar object. We also take the approximation that the DM temperature is equal to the nucleus temperature around the core.

 $C_s$  is the DM capture rate by colliding off the DM that has been captured inside the stellar objects, and The calculation is similar to the nucleus evaporation effect. One integrates out the final velocity distribution cut by the escape velocity, and it is given by [165]

$$C_s = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} n_\chi \sigma_{\chi\chi} v_{\rm esc}(r) \frac{v_{\rm esc}(r)}{\bar{v}} \langle \hat{\phi}_\chi \rangle \frac{\operatorname{erf}(\eta)}{\eta}, \qquad (68)$$

where  $\langle \hat{\phi}_{\chi} \rangle$  is the dimensionless average of potential for the captured DM inside the stellar object, the value is about  $\langle \hat{\phi}_{\chi} \rangle \sim 5.1$  for the Sun [166].  $n_{\chi}$  is the local density of halo DM,  $\sigma_{\chi\chi}$  is the elastic scattering cross section of DM with themselves,  $v_{\rm esc}(r)$  is the escape velocity, and  $\eta^2$  is the square of the dimensionless velocity of the stellar object in the DM halo.

Finally, the captured DM in the stellar objects might annihilate each other and produce a pair of SM particles. This effect is described by  $C_a$ , the annihilation coefficient, given by

$$C_a \approx \frac{\langle \sigma v \rangle V_2}{V_1^2},\tag{69}$$

where  $V_j$  is the DM effective volume inside the Sun, it is about  $6.5 \times 10^{28} \text{cm}^3 (\frac{10 \text{GeV}}{jm_{\chi}})^{3/2}$  and  $\langle \sigma v \rangle$  is the relative velocity averaged annihilation cross section for DM pairs.

#### 2. Hydrodynamic approach: Accretion and fragmentation

One possible formation mechanism of boson stars is the accretion of DM around some massive region due to density fluctuation. The simplest accretion mechanism is Bondi accretion, which assumes spherical symmetry. See Appendix B for the outline of solving Bondi accretion. If the DM is non-relativistic with equation of state  $p = \kappa \rho_0^{\gamma}$ , then the accretion rate is given by (see also (B7))

$$\dot{M} = \pi G_N^2 M^2 \frac{\rho_0(\infty)}{c_s^3(\infty)} \Big[ \frac{2}{5 - 3\gamma} \Big]^{\frac{(5 - 3\gamma)}{2(\gamma - 1)}}$$
(70)

where the adiabatic index is restricted to  $\gamma \leq 5/3$ , so that the factor of  $\gamma$  is  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  and

$$\dot{M} \sim 10^{-19} M_{\odot} \text{yr}^{-1} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\odot}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\rho_0(\infty)}{10^{-21} \text{kg m}^{-3}}\right) \left(\frac{c_s(\infty)}{10^2 \text{km } s^{-1}}\right)^{-3}$$
(71)

On the other hand, for the relativistic DM, we shall adopt the relativistic Bondi accretion; see Appendix B for a brief account. Take the  $\lambda |\phi|^4$  self-interacting boson field as an example; the Bondi accretion rate is bounded from below [167],

$$\dot{M}_{min} \le \dot{M} < \infty$$
 (72)

with  $\dot{M}_{min}$  given in (B15)[167]

$$\dot{M}_{min} := 64\pi \frac{G_N^2 M^2}{c^3} \rho_B ,$$
  
  $\sim 10^{-9} M_{\odot} \mathrm{yr}^{-1} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\odot}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\rho_0(\infty)}{10^{-21} \mathrm{kg \ m}^{-3}}\right) \left(\frac{c_s(\infty)}{10^2 \mathrm{km \ s}^{-1}}\right)^{-2} (73)$ 

From the above result, we can find that the relativistic SIDM enhances the accretion rate by several orders higher than the conventional nonrelativistic WIMP. Despite that, the typical value of  $\dot{M}_{min}$  is still smaller than the Eddington accretion rate of baryons  $\simeq 10^{-2} M_{\odot} \text{yr}^{-1}$ . This implies that it is challenging to form dark boson stars by accreting the DM for either WIMP or SIDM.

If we instead consider the above Bondi accretion of DM around a supermassive BH with mass  $\simeq 10^6 \sim 10^9 M_{\odot}$ , then the accretion rate will be enhanced by about  $10^{12} \sim 10^{18}$  factor. This means that the DM can accumulate quickly around a supermassive BH and form a spike profile. The discussion of the detailed profiles of the spikes can be found in [167]. The typical density profile of the spike goes as  $r^{-\alpha}$  with  $\alpha \simeq 1 \sim 2$  depending on the equation of state and the location around the BH. This sharp spike can easily fragment further due to the usual Jean's instability, and the resultant fragments will be the (seed of) boson stars. This accretion and fragmentation mechanism can speed up the production of DS. The mass distribution for the DS produced from the above mechanism is an interesting issue for future study.

Finally, we should emphasize that we assume the DM does not interact with photons or some dark photons. This is quite different from the usual Eddington accretion, for which there will be a radiative energy outflow carried by photons. Its typical accretion rate around a BH of mass M is about  $10^{-8} M_{\odot} \text{yr}^{-1} (\frac{M}{M_{\odot}})^{-3}$ .

## 3. A tentative example of composite dark matter: Mirror copy approach

From the above discussions, it is challenging to form DS by accretion mechanism within a reasonable timescale mainly due to the weak interactions with the standard model particles or the constraints on their self-interactions with the observed astrophysical phenomena.

On the other hand, baryonic stars are easier to form through the interplay of large-scale structure and molecular

 $<sup>^3</sup>$ See https://ilyamandel.github.io/BackOfTheEnvelopeNotes/Eddington.pdf

dynamics. An interstellar cloud of molecules can collapse to form the seed for star formation [168, 169]. It is tempting to speculate the possible mechanism for ample DS formations by mimicking the one for the baryonic stars. The simplest way is to speculate the DM model as the mirror copy of the baryonic one, a kind of asymmetric composite DM discussed earlier. For example, we can consider the dark quark models with SU(3) color group so that dark nucleons can form by the confinement mechanism. Suppose we do not mirror the electroweak sector for the DM. In that case, the color-neutral dark nucleons with the mass scale from the dimensional transmutation [170] below the GeV scale will be the fundamental constituents from which suitable dark molecules can form by aggregation via the residual van der Waals forces. These dark molecules will be the primary materials to form the interstellar dark clouds for star formations.

Because of lacking the atomic structure in the absence of dark electroweak sectors, the size of the dark nucleon will be five orders smaller than the one of the baryonic atom. Based on naive scaling, this implies that the DS could be at least five orders smaller than the baryonic stars if DS formations follow the same mechanism of molecular dynamics as the baryonic ones. This means that the typical DS with about one solar mass will have compactness like the NS. The DS formed in this way will have a similar internal structure to the NS, except they are composed of dark neutrons. As the underlying formation mechanism is similar to the baryonic ones, we expect the formation rate to be comparable to or even faster than the baryonic ones due to the smaller overall size scale, thus, stronger van der Waals forces. Therefore, we will expect to have populated binary DS merger events to be observed by LIGO/Virgo/KAGRA. Due to their compactness, thus, small tidal deformability, these kinds of DS will behave like mimickers of BH and NS. For future GW detectors with the high capability of multimessenger detection rate, we can tell these DS from the NS by the observed multimessenger signals. On the other hand, these DS can also be adopted to explain the BH mass gap events. Detailed studies of the dark molecule formation and the subsequent cloud formation are needed for a full-scale understanding.

## IV. MIMICKERS OF BLACK HOLES AND NEUTRON STARS

In gravitational-wave (GW) and electromagnetic (EM) observations, BH are generally justified by their masses and invisibility rather than the determination of zero TLN. In the EM case, getting the TLN information is impossible, while in the GW case, the TLN corrections are usually too weak for distant events. Thus, it is difficult to distinguish DS from BH with similar masses. On the other hand, NS can have detectable TLN but are constrained to have masses between  $1M_{\odot}$  and  $2.6M_{\odot}$ . The lower mass bound is suggested by the optical observations that almost no NS with masses below  $1M_{lodot}$  have been observed [171]. The upper mass bound depends on the EoS of dense nuclear matter, which is uncertain and should be inferred from the observed M-R relation. However, most candidate EOS suggest that the upper mass bound shall not be larger than  $2.6M_{\odot}$  [63, 172]. Therefore, if the boson stars can have masses and TLNs fitted to the above consideration, it is hard to distinguish them from BH or NS. Such kinds of boson stars can be the mimickers of BH or NS.

The masses of the boson stars can also fall in the ranges of either lower or higher mass gaps for the BH, and then these boson stars can be the candidates for the gap events with small TLNs.

We illustrate that BS is the BH and NS mimickers rather than fermionic stars. It is because both EOCs could have similar (or even identical) macroscopic M-R relations, and currently, the only GW observable to differentiate ECO from the BH is the tidal deformability. With the degeneracy of various DM models, one essentially can not pin down the underlying nature of DM, namely fermionic particles or bosonic ones, from a single event. However, suppose we believe a single and unique DM particle exists to explain the cosmological anomaly, statistical-wise. In that case, one can read out the details of the underlying DM model after accumulating sufficient events and data.

In this section, we would like to demonstrate the possibility of the boson stars as the mimickers of BH or NS based on the EoSs discussed in section III A.

#### A. Mimickers in the lower mass range

We start with the cases for the lower mass gap. Fig. 4 and Fig. 5 show the Mass-Radius and TLN-Mass relations, respectively, with the masses below  $6M_{\odot}$  for the EoSs discussed in section III A, namely,  $\phi^4$  (CSW) BS,  $\phi^8$  BS, Liouville BS, and Cosh-Gordon BS. By varying  $\mathcal{B}$  or  $\mathcal{B}_n$  in the EoS, see the range shown in Table III, the stable boson stars can cover a wide mass range.

The 2.6  $M_{\odot}$  curves are marked to compare with GW190814, whose secondary star has a mass  $2.59^{+0.08}_{-0.09} M_{\odot}$ , with no measurable TLN data, and no EM counterpart of this event is reported. The General BS EoS  $\phi^n$  could serve as the candidates for this component compact object. Similarly, due to the wide parameter space of boson star models, now LBS, C-G BS also could achieve 2.59  $M_{\odot}$  while keeping a low TLN as shown in Fig. 5.

The  $4M_{\odot}$  curves show the typical candidates for the lower gap events, with the radius ranging from about 22 km to 36 km and the TLN from about 10 to 250. Since masses of the gap events exceed the possible upper mass range of the NS while still too low for generally accepted BH scenarios, boson stars are the very competitive candidates. Several other compact objects are observed in the lower gap, including GW190814. One of them is named 2MASS J05215658+4359220 [173], where a red giant forms a noninteracting binary system with a likely BH, which has a mass of  $3.3^{+2.8}_{-0.7} M_{\odot}$ .



FIG. 4: Mass-Radius relation for the four types of the considered boson stars in the lower mass gap region. Blue curves stand for the General BS with n = 4 (CSW  $\phi^4$ ). orange curves with n = 8 (BS  $\phi^8$ ), green for the Cosh-Gordon BS (C-G BS), and red for the Liouville BS (LBS). These groups of solid curves are marked, with maximum masses to be  $1.4M_{\odot}$ ,  $2.6M_{\odot}$ ,  $4M_{\odot}$ , and  $6M_{\odot}$ , respectively. The dash-dot line with the same color as the corresponding EoS links the maximal-mass points of the same type of boson stars labeled by the same color, including those not drawn explicitly. The yellow area is the range of GW190814 secondary mass $(m_2) \ 2.6^{+0.1}_{-0.1} M_{\odot}$ at 90% credible interval from GW Open Science Center (GWOSC) [56]. The dashed curve region of each curve is unstable. Different M-R curves are obtained by tuning the parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  of the corresponding EoS, shown in Table III.



 $M_{\rm max}$ Parameter  $1.4 M_\odot~2.6 M_\odot~4.0 M_\odot~6.0 M_\odot$  $CSW(\mathcal{B}_4)$ 0.0310.0860.0470.02BS  $\phi^8$  ( $\mathcal{B}_8$ ) 0.100.0550.0360.024LBS  $(10^4 \mathcal{B}_L)$ 27.58.053.401.52C-GBS  $(10^5 \mathcal{B}_{\rm C})$ 40.011.24.902.18

TABLE III: The values of  $\mathcal{B}$  of the corresponding EoS for the curves shown in Fig. 4 and Fig. 5 below.

From the results, we see that all four boson star models can serve as the mimickers of NS for the masses between  $1M_{\odot}$ and  $2.6M_{\odot}$  as their TLNs for stable configurations are below few hundred, that is comparable with the current observation from GW170817 [56, 57]. By the multimessenger constraints [137], a neutron star of  $1.4 \ M_{\odot}$  should have a radius  $11.75^{+0.86}_{-0.81}$  km at 90% confidence level. Thus, we find that the LBS and C-G BS curves with maximum  $1.4 \ M_{\odot}$  fall into this range, while  $\phi^4$  BS,  $\phi^8$  BS seem outside of it. But since the mass does not necessarily be the maximum,  $\phi^8$  BS curve with higher maximum mass, say  $2 \ M_{\odot}$ , could clear this criterion.

The above Mass-Radius relations can also explain the secondary mass  $2.59^{+0.08}_{-0.09} M_{\odot}$  of GW190814 as the mimicker of a BH in the lower mass gap. Therefore, by choosing the EoS parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  or  $\mathcal{B}_n$ , the boson star models can easily accommodate the events of black-hole and neutron-star mimickers, even for the ones in the lower mass gap. This comes as no surprise as there are almost no constraints on the properties of DM, hence boson stars. Instead, one can use the GW events, especially the ones in the mass gap, to constrain the properties of DM, such as the SIDM considered here.

Besides, two more remarks are in order. First, the boson star models can also predict compact stars with masses less than  $1M_{\odot}$ . For example, one  $0.6M_{\odot}$  would have a radius from 3km for  $\phi^8$  BS to 5.5km for  $\phi^4$  BS. These will be novel candidates for GW detections. See [174, 175] for more discussions on the search plan. Second, the maximal compactness is a constant for each EoS, independent from the adjusting parameter  $\mathcal{B}_n$  or  $\mathcal{B}$ . As shown in Fig. 4, if we link the maximal-mass points of MR curves with the same EoS together by dashed lines, they form strict straight lines, passing through the original point. This can be explained by the scaling symmetry of the TOV equation as discussed in section III D.

#### B. Mimickers in the higher mass range

FIG. 5: TLN-Mass relation for the four types of the considered boson stars in the lower mass gap region. The color and mark schemes are the same as in Fig. 4. Different TLN-M curves are obtained by tuning the parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  of the corresponding EoS, shown in Table III.

We now consider the cases of black-hole mimickers around the upper mass gap, i.e., 50 to  $150M_{\odot}$ . We show the Mass-Radius and TLN-Mass relations in Fig. 6 and Fig. 7, respectively, in the range of the upper mass gap. The corresponding range of the EoS parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  is also shown in Table IV.



FIG. 6: Mass-Radius relation for the four types of the considered boson stars in the upper mass gap region. These groups of solid curves are marked, with maximum masses of  $55M_{\odot}$ ,  $75M_{\odot}$ ,  $95M_{\odot}$ ,  $115M_{\odot}$ , and  $135M_{\odot}$ , respectively. The dash-dot line links the TLNs (As) of the maximal-mass points of the same type of boson stars labeled by the same color, including those not drawn explicitly. The sky blue area is the range of GW190521 primary mass $(m_1)$  98.4 $^{+33.6}_{-21.7}M_{\odot}$ . The yellow area is the range of GW190521 secondary mass $(m_2)$  57.2 $^{+27.1}_{-30.1}M_{\odot}$ . Both data are at a 90% confidence level.



FIG. 7: TLN-Mass relation for the four types of the considered boson stars in the upper mass gap region. The color and mark schemes are the same as in Fig. 6. Different TLN-M curves are obtained by tuning the parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  of the corresponding EoS, shown in Table IV.

As expected, we find that the boson stars can be the blackhole mimickers in the upper mass gap by choosing the proper EoS parameter  $\mathcal{B}$ . Thus, they can be the candidates to explain the GW events in the upper mass gap as the black-hole mimicker, such as the primary mass of GW190521, which is estimated to be  $85.3^{+21}_{-14} M_{\odot}$  with the final mass of merger to be  $142^{+28}_{-16} M_{\odot}$  [62]. All four EoS could reach this primary mass, with TLN as low as 100 to 300. This makes them nice black-hole mimickers because they are indistinguishable from BH, considering their low TLN and little interaction

with EM signals. There are alternative proposals for explaining GW190521 as the BH mimickers based on different boson star models, e.g., in [176], it is interpreted as the head-on collision of vector boson (Proca) stars; see also [177].

B					
D	$55 M_{\odot}$	$75 M_{\odot}$	$95 M_{\odot}$	$115 M_{\odot}$	$135 M_{\odot}$
$10^3 \mathcal{B}_4$	2.23	1.64	1.30	1.07	0.908
$10^3 \mathcal{B}_8$	2.61	1.91	1.51	1.25	1.06
$10^8 \mathcal{B}_{\rm L}$	18.0	9.70	6.05	4.13	3.00
$10^9 \mathcal{B}_{\rm C}$	26.0	14.0	8.73	5.96	4.32

TABLE IV: The values of  $\mathcal{B}$  of the corresponding EoS for the curves shown in Fig. 6 and Fig. 7

Besides, many other events contain stars in the upper mass gap, like GW190403\_051519 with an  $88.0^{+28.2}_{-32.9} M_{\odot}$  primary star, GW190426\_190642 with a  $106.9^{+41.6}_{-25.2} M_{\odot}$  primary star and a  $76.6^{+26.2}_{-33.6}$   $M_{\odot}$  secondary star, GW190929\_012149 with an  $80.8^{+33.0}_{-33.2}$   $M_{\odot}$  primary star, and GW200220\_061928 with an  $86^{+38}_{-22} M_{\odot}$  primary star, etc. It seems that upper-massgap GW events are not rare. However, we shall emphasize that none of the above events have enough significance to be included in the LVK's testing GR analysis. Despite that, we may expect similar mass-gap events to occur in the nextgeneration GW detector. Of course, these mass-gap events could be either primary or secondary objects by merging primary compact objects. However, the latter possibility should be far less than the former one, because most mergers do not have their final masses in the upper mass gap. Moreover, there are ways to distinguish the secondary from the primary objects, notably by the larger spin of the secondary from the orbital angular momentum before the merger.

Also, note that using the same EoS with fixed parameter  $\mathcal{B}$  cannot explain the lower and upper mass gap events simultaneously. To do the job, at least two different SIDMs with quite different  $\mathcal{B}$ . Despite that, the SIDM is still the most simple and natural to yield the black-hole mimickers for the gap events. After introducing the data analysis methodology in the next section, we will present some posteriors of GW190521 and GW190814 to fit the models of BH mimickers.

## V. METHODOLOGY OF DATA ANALYSIS

Due to unavoidable noises in the GW detector, it is essential to devise the data analysis methodology to extract the source properties from the observed strain data. Also, the GW analysis heavily relies on the waveform models. If one would like to consider the GW signals from the DS, the construction of the waveforms will be dictated by the underlying DM theory. Therefore, it is impossible to give a full review on this subject. Instead, we will sketch the basic concepts of the data analysis methodology and how to discriminate the BH and NS from their mimickers. We hope this will be helpful for the novices. For the recent progress, please see [33, 155, 156, 178–180] and the references therein and their future citations.

Below, we first review the general theory of Bayesian statistics [181-183] on which the framework of GW data analysis follows. Denote the observed data as a vector,  $y = (y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_n)$  with the index labeling the various observed properties. Similarly, the parameters of interest can be written as  $= (\vartheta_1, \vartheta_2, \ldots, \vartheta_n)$ . Due to the detector's noises, the measured  $\vartheta$  is a random variable. For example,  $\vartheta \sim N(\mu, \sigma^2)$ or  $p(\vartheta) = N(\vartheta|\mu, \sigma^2)$ , denotes that  $\vartheta$  obeys a (multi-)normal distribution with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$  which is represented by  $N(\vartheta|\mu, \sigma^2)$ . Here are two key elements of Bayesian statistics.

a. Bayes' theorem — The joint probability for  $\vartheta$  and y can be written as

$$p(\vartheta, y) = p(\vartheta)p(y|\vartheta), \tag{74}$$

where we call  $p(\vartheta)$  and  $p(y|\vartheta)$  the prior and sampling distributions respectively. Bayes' theorem is a basic property of conditional probability on the known data y, which can be given by

$$p(\vartheta|y) = \frac{p(\vartheta, y)}{p(y)},\tag{75}$$

where

$$p(y) = \sum_{\vartheta} p(y|\vartheta) \quad \text{or} \quad p(y) = \int d\vartheta \, p(y|\vartheta)$$
 (76)

is called the marginalized distribution of data or evidence. By substituting (74) into (75), we obtain the so-called posterior distribution

$$p(\vartheta|y) = \frac{p(\vartheta)p(y|\vartheta)}{p(y)} \propto p(\vartheta)p(y|\vartheta).$$
(77)

This tells the probability distribution of the parameter  $\vartheta$  extracted from the data y.

Based on (77) with a given prior  $p(\vartheta)$ , to infer the posterior  $p(\vartheta|y)$  of the source properties  $\vartheta$  for a given data y, we need to construct a probability model from y to obtain the likelihood function  $p(y|\vartheta)$ . The standard method to construct the likelihood function is by the numerical methods based on Monte-Carlo methods, such as Markov chain Monte-Carlo (MCMC) or nested sampling. We will not discuss these methods here.

The posterior predictive distribution can be identified as the average over the posterior distribution of  $\vartheta$ , the distribution  $p(\vartheta|y)$ 

$$p(\tilde{y}|y) = \int d\vartheta \, p(\tilde{y}|\vartheta) p(\vartheta, y), \tag{78}$$

where we have

$$p(\tilde{y}|\vartheta) = p(\tilde{y}|\vartheta, y) \tag{79}$$

due to the independence of  $\tilde{y}$  and y.

b. Bayes factor— Scientific measurements aim to verify or falsify some scientific theory, scenario/hypothesis. Usually, there exist competitive theories/hypotheses. To deal with the so-called hypothesis testing, we can evaluate the Bayes factor to see which theory/hypothesis fits the data better. Let us denote two competing hypotheses as  $H_A$  and  $H_B$ . For each model hypothesis m = A, B, we have the corresponding prior  $p(\theta_m|H_m)$  and likelihood  $p(y|\theta_m, H_m)$ , then the associated posterior by Bayes' theorem should be

$$p(\vartheta_m|y, H_m) \propto p(y|\vartheta_m, H_m)p(\vartheta_m|H_m).$$
 (80)

On the other hand, if we like to compare the superiority between the hypotheses  $H_{A,B}$  based on the observed data y, we would like to evaluate the following ratio of odds,

$$\frac{p(H_A|y)}{p(H_B|y)} = \frac{p(H_A)}{p(H_B)} \frac{p(y|H_A)}{p(y|H_B)},$$
(81)

where we have again adopted Bayes's theorem. The part that involved both data and hypothesis is called the Bayes factor,

$$\mathcal{B}_{AB} = \frac{p(y|H_A)}{p(y|H_B)} = \frac{\int d\vartheta_A \, p(\vartheta_A|H_A) p(y|\vartheta_A, H_A)}{\int d\vartheta_B \, p(\vartheta_B|H_B) p(y|\vartheta_B, H_B)} \,. \tag{82}$$

If we do not prefer either hypothesis  $H_A$  or  $H_B$ , we can assume  $p(H_A) = p(H_B)$ . Thus, the ratio of odds is nothing but the Bayes factor. From the second equality of (82), we see that it needs to obtain the likelihood function for each model hypothesis to evaluate the Bayes factor, which can be done by invoking either MCMC or nested sampling.

In the above, we have reviewed the basics of Bayesian statistics. In the following, we will apply GW data analysis.

#### A. Matched filtering

The data analysis aims to extract the source properties, such as the masses, spins, and locations of the binary compact objects, from the observed strain data. Also, we need to prepare some mock strain data for the overhead training of the data analysis algorithm. Now we denote the time series strain data by  $d(t) = \{d_i\}$ , which uniformly sampled at times  $t_i$ , instead of y in the GW data analysis. In general, a strain data d(t) can be decomposed as following,

$$d(t) = n(t) + h_{\vartheta}(t). \tag{83}$$

where n(t) is the intrinsic detector's noise, which contaminates the intrinsic/theoretical strain  $h_{\vartheta}(t)$  from the sources in the strain/mock data. We usually assume n(t) is a stationary Gaussian noise, though the deviation from this assumption is expected but shall be controllable. With such an assumption, one should fit the best fit of  $d(t) - h_{\vartheta}(t)$  to a Gaussian by scanning the space of the theoretical strain h(t) to construct the likelihood function  $p(d(t)|\vartheta, H)$  for the source parameters  $\vartheta$  in the model H. This is the so-called matched filtering method, which aims to maximize the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) given by

$$\sup_{\vartheta,t_0} \Re \int_{f_{\min}}^{f_{\max}} \frac{\tilde{d}(f) \cdot \tilde{h}^*_{\vartheta}(f)}{S_n(f)} e^{2\pi i f t_0} df$$
(84)

where the tilde quantity denotes its Fourier transform counterpart, and  $S_n(f)$  is the power spectral density of the detector noise.

#### B. Bayesian inferences for gravitational wave data analysis

To avoid discussing the detection problem, the matched filtering method can be adopted for the low-latency search for the GW event candidates by setting an SNR threshold, say SNR  $\geq 10$ . Once a GW event candidate is found, the next step is to perform parameter estimation for the source properties by scanning the likelihood function based on MCMC or nested sampling with the help of matched filtering.

The parameter estimation can help us understand the parameter space's credible region. In GW astronomy, there are many open-source toolkits for parameter estimation, e.g., LALInference[184], PyCBC Inference [185], and BILBY[186]. In this paper, we choose the PyCBC as the main toolkit. The PyCBC is based on a Python code environment for parameter estimation for compact binary coalescence (CBC) signals; it uses Bayesian inference to infer the properties of the source. Given the observed data d(t) under the hypothesis H, the Bayes's theorem (77) can be read as

$$p(\vartheta|d(t), H) = \frac{p(d(t)|\vartheta, H)p(\vartheta|H)}{p(d(t)|H)}$$
(85)

where  $p(\vartheta|d(t), H)$  is the posterior probability density describing the conditional probability that the signal has parameter  $\vartheta$  given observation data d(t) and an uncertain hypothesis H, for example, it includes waveform model, Gaussian noise, etc. The probability density  $p(d(t)|\vartheta, H)$  is the likelihood function, which is the probability of obtaining the observation data d(t) given the hypothesis H with parameter  $\vartheta$ .  $p(\vartheta|H)$ is prior describing our knowledge about the parameter  $\vartheta$  before considering the observation data d(t).

If we are interested in a parameter  $\vartheta$ , we can marginalize the posterior probability by integrating  $p(d(t)|\vartheta, H)p(\vartheta|H)$ over the unwanted parameters. If we marginalize over all parameters, we can get the evidence p(d(t)|H)

$$\int_{\vartheta_1^{\min}}^{\vartheta_1^{\max}} \dots \int_{\vartheta_N^{\min}}^{\vartheta_N^{\max}} d\vartheta_1 \dots d\vartheta_N \ p(d(t)|\vartheta_i, H) p(\vartheta_i|H) = p(d(t)|H)$$
(86)

The evidence is a normalizing constant for the posterior probability given model H. If we want to compare two different models,  $H_A$  and  $H_B$ , the Bayes factor can be used to determine which model favored according to the Bayes factor (82). If  $\mathcal{B}_{AB}$  is greater than 1, then the model  $H_A$  is favored over  $H_B$ .

To perform Bayesian inference, we implement the MCMC algorithm [187–189] to sample the parameter space and then calculate the posterior probability density. After the first l initial iterations, the k-th Markov chain yields the set of parameters,  $\vartheta_l^{(k)}$  given the prior probability density function. The sampling algorithm will yield a new proposed set of parameters,  $\vartheta_{l'}^{(k)}$  with probability  $P(\vartheta_l^{(k)}, \vartheta_{l'}^{(k)})$ . Suppose a new set of parameters is chosen. In that case, the sampler then computes an acceptance probability,  $\gamma$ , which determines if the Markov chain should move to the proposed parameter set  $\vartheta_{l'}^{(k)}$ , such that  $\vartheta_{l+1}^{(k)} = \vartheta_{l'}^{(k)}$ . Otherwise,  $\vartheta_{l'}^{(k)}$  will be rejected, then  $\vartheta_{l+1}^{(k)} = \vartheta_l^{(k)}$ . After sufficient iterations, the ensemble converges to a distribution proportional to the posterior probability density function sampling. The true astrophysical parameters can be estimated from a histogram of the Markov chain distribution of the samplers in the parameter space.

In PyCBC, there are several well-developed software packages that implement algorithms for sampling from posterior probability density functions. The commonly used algorithms are emcee, published by Foreman-Mackey [190, 191], as well as its parallel-tempered version, emcee-pt sampler [192]. These sampling algorithms advance the position of the Markov chain based on its previous position and provide inference capabilities in PyCBC when updating these positions.

The emcee-pt sampler is a parallel-tempered sampler that improves the exploration of different regions in highdimensional parameter space by sampling at multiple temperatures. It utilizes a set of Markov chains, where each chain corresponds to a different temperature, T, such that

$$p_T(\vartheta|d(t), H) = \frac{p(d(t)|\vartheta, H)^{\frac{1}{T}} p(\vartheta|H)}{p(d(t)|H)}$$
(87)

These chains exchange states between different temperatures, enabling exploration in the temperature space. The emcee sampler performs the sampling using one temperature, where T = 1.

The output from these sampling algorithms is a Markov chain. The consecutive steps of these chains are not independent, as the Markov process depends on the previous states [193]. The autocorrelation length  $\tau_K$  of the Markov chain is a measure of the number of iterations required to obtain independent samples from the posterior probability density function [194]. The autocorrelation length of the k-th Markov chain,  $X_l^{(k)} = \{\vartheta_g^{(k)}; 1 < g < l\}$ , of length, l, obtained from the sampling algorithm is defined as

$$\tau_K = 1 + 2\sum_{i=1}^K \hat{R}_i, \tag{88}$$

where K is the first iteration along the Markov chain, the condition  $m\tau \leq K$  is true, m being a parameter which in Py-CBC Inference is set to 5 [194]. The autocorrelation function,  $\hat{R}_i$ , is defined as

$$\hat{R}_{i} = \frac{1}{l\sigma^{2}} \sum_{t=1}^{l-i} (X_{t} - \mu)(X_{t+i} - \mu),$$
(89)

where  $X_t$  are the samples of  $X_l^{(k)}$  between the 0-th and the *t*-th iteration,  $X_{t+i}$  are the samples of  $X_l^{(k)}$  between the 0-th and the (t + 1)-th iterations. Here,  $\mu$  and  $\sigma^2$  are the mean and variance of  $X_t$ , respectively.

The initial position of a Markov chain can affect its subsequent positions. The length of time before the Markov chain is considered to have lost any memory of its initial position is referred to as the "burn-in" period. A common practice in MCMC analysis is to discard samples from the burn-in period to prevent any bias introduced by the initial position of the Markov chain on parameter estimation in MCMC. There are several ways in PyCBC Inference to determine when a Markov chain has passed the burn-in period. Among them, we often use the following two methods, max\_posterior and n\_acl.

The max\_posterior algorithm is an implementation of the burn-in test used for the MCMC sampler [195]. In this method, the k-th Markov chain is considered to be past the burn-in period at the first iteration, l, for which

$$\log \mathcal{L}_{l}^{(k)}(\vartheta) \leq \max_{k,l} \log \mathcal{L}(\vartheta) - \frac{N_{p}}{2}, \tag{90}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}(\vartheta)$  is the prior-weighted likelihood,

$$\mathcal{L}(\vartheta) = p(d(t)|\vartheta, H)p(\vartheta|H), \tag{91}$$

and  $N_p$  is the number of dimensions in the parameter space. The maximization,  $\max_{k,l} \log \mathcal{L}(\vartheta)$ , is carried out over all Markov chains and iterations. The ensemble is considered past the burn-in period at the first iteration, where all Markov chains pass this test.

In addition to the max\_posterior test, the n\_acl test is also used. All Markov chains converge when we use the max\_posterior test to return an iteration in MCMC and use it with the emcee\_pt sampler. This underestimates the burnin period as the initial points still influence the samples from the posterior probability density function. However, adding at least one autocorrelation length to the computation of the burn-in period using the max\_posterior test can reduce this effect. Therefore, we use the **n\_acl** test in conjunction with the emcee\_pt sampler. If the length of the chains exceeds ten times the autocorrelation length, this test assumes that the sampler has passed the burn-in period. The autocorrelation length is computed using samples from the latter half of the Markov chain. If the test is satisfied, it is considered that the sampler has passed the burn-in period at the midpoint of the Markov chain.

## C. Some example posteriors for mass gap events as black hole mimickers

To demonstrate the results of the GW data analysis based on the above Bayesian inference framework, we show the posteriors for two mass gap events, GW190521 and GW190814 [196, 197], by fitting to the model of BH mimickers, namely, compact stars with nonzero TLN. Here, we use the public data on the GW Open Science Center (https://www.gwopenscience.org) released by the LVC.<sup>4</sup>

To demonstrate the result efficiently, we use the "IMR-PhenomPv2\_NRTidal" waveform model [198] instead of the "SEOBNRv4\_ROM\_NRTidalv2" model. Moreover, the BH mimickers have nonzero TLNs, allowing one to distinguish them from BBH. The analysis of BH mimickers with GW observations shows that the EoS can be constrained by masses and TLNs of a binary [199]. In our work, we are also interested in a binary of the BH mimickers, and therefore, we include the analysis of the TLNs in GW190521 and GW190814 without setting both values to zero.

## 1. Upper Mass Gap: GW190521



FIG. 8: The GW190521 posterior probability density with IMRPhenomPv2\_NRTidal waveform template bank.

We first consider GW190521 and follow the standard procedure by LIGO and Virgo [35], the candidate event in the upper mass gap, and show the resultant posterior in Fig. 8 by using the "IMRPhenomPv2\_NRTidal" waveform model for the matched filtering. Each colored point in Fig. 8 is reached by the MCMC walker in the last iteration with the SNR close to the LIGO released data,  $14.3^{+0.5}_{-0.4}$ . The results show that the TLN in each star is  $\Lambda_1 = 2.7^{+8.8}_{-2.5}$  and  $\Lambda_2 = 5.2^{+14.7}_{-4.8}$ , both of which are lower than the values for the considered boson stars. The small values of TLN imply that the objects could be just BH or very rigid compact stars. The result is close to the boson star model BS  $\phi^8$  prediction despite that.

The parameter estimation result of this event has been updated several times by LIGO Scientific Collaboration [200]. The most recent one yields the masses to be  $98.4^{+33.6}_{-21.7}M_{\odot}$  and  $57.2^{+27.1}_{-30.1}M_{\odot}$  as given in GWTC-2.1 [35]. However, our result is closer to the one given in GWTC-2.0 [55] with secondary mass  $69.0^{+22.7}_{-23.1}M_{\odot}$ . Our result shows little change due to the inclusion of TLN, and the SNR obtained is close to the parameter estimation results using "IMRPhenomPv3HM" [201] as the waveform template released by LIGO,  $14.22^{+0.30}_{-0.34}$ .

There may be a discrepancy in the results for the primary mass compared to those released by LIGO. One possible reason is that the waveform model used is only designed to model the inspiral of NS, not the complicated merger phase. Hence, it tapers the amplitude before the merger. Thus, it is unsuitable for analyzing this event, where the merger-ringdown produces most of the SNR. "IMRPhenomPv2\_NRTidal" is also specifically tuned to numerical relativity simulations of BNS and includes EOS-dependent effects in the tidal contribution. Therefore, it is not suitable for analyzing binary boson stars. However, we want to assume possible scenarios for parameter estimation results when searching for BH mimickers. Currently, we are using a BNS waveform template for a simple demonstration, hoping that better waveform templates will

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  The version of strain data we used was released on March 9, 2021.

be available for improved analysis of BH mimickers in the future.

#### 2. Lower Mass Gap: GW190814



FIG. 9: The GW190814 posterior probability density with IMRPhenomPv2\_NRTidal waveform template bank.

The second example is the BH mimicker event in the lower mass gap, namely, the GW190814. The posterior is shown in Fig. 9, again with the "IMRPhenomPv2\_NRTidal" waveform model for the matched filtering. The SNR obtained is close to the parameter estimation results using "IMRPhenomNSBH" [202] as the waveform template released by LIGO,  $23.41^{+1.65}_{-1.65}$ . We focus on the mass-gap component of the binary, the second one, which could be the BH mimicker. However, we obtain an almost flat posterior for  $\Lambda_2$  with a given uniform prior in [0, 1000]. Again, we cannot conclude whether this is a boson star based on our result. Our result is similar to the LIGO released properties of GW190814 [63] based on the NSBH model with a uniform prior of  $\Lambda_2 \in [0, 3000]$ . The absence of measurable tidal features could be due to the highly unequal mass ratios and relatively large primary masses, so the neutron star is tidally disrupted before the merger. Therefore, the resultant waveform shows little information about the tidal deformability of the massive secondary.

#### D. Boson stars discrimination

a. Tidal deformation in waveform— The relevant difference in waveforms for boson stars, NS, and BH is mainly due to their associated TLNs. Especially, the TLN of BH is known to be zero<sup>5</sup> [205–207]. When considering the waveform of inspiral, the TLNs of both component objects will

contribute to the waveform at the leading-order (5PN) correction through the combination [146, 208, 209]

$$\tilde{\Lambda} = \frac{16}{13} \frac{(m_1 + 12m_2)m_1^4 \Lambda_1 + (m_2 + 12m_1)m_2^4 \Lambda_2}{M^5}.$$
 (92)

Later, we will focus on this quantity to distinguish boson stars from NS and BH through data analysis; see also [33, 178].

b. Bayesian model— We would like to discriminate the boson stars from BH in a binary system, which is followed by two simple reasons: (i) most of the binaries observed by LIGO-Virgo-KAGRA (LVK) are BNS; and (ii) within our knowledge of boson stars, their tidal deformability is always tiny.

Based on Bayes' statistics, we can perform hypothesis testing or model comparison by evaluating the Bayes factor. We take the hypothesis of BBH as the null hypothesis denoted by  $H_0$ , a binary boson star (BBS) and a boson star-black hole (BSBH) binaries are denoted by  $H_1$  and  $H_2$ , respectively. Without prejudice over the three hypotheses, we assume the same prior probability for them, i.e.,  $p(H_a) = 1/3$ .

The GW data analysis aims to extract the posteriors of the model parameters of the sources. There are intrinsic parameters, such as the masses and TLNs of the compact binary, and extrinsic parameters related to the location and orientation of the source relative to the detector. For simplicity, we will neglect the extrinsic parameters for a given strain data d but characterize them by the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)  $\rho^{(d)}$  extracted from the matched filtering. For the intrinsic parameters, we will only consider the masses  $m_{1,2}^{(d)}$  and TLNs  $\Lambda_{1,2}^{(d)}$  of the binary. For BH, TLN is zero. On the other hand, for the boson stars, the TLN is related to the mass by the TLN-Mass relation, which can be denoted by  $\Lambda = \Lambda(m, b)$ with b the model parameter of the associated EoS for SIDM. This implies that the combined TLN of (92) appearing in the waveform will be just the function of the binary masses  $m_{1,2}$ and b, or denoted by

$$\tilde{\Lambda} = \tilde{\Lambda}(m_1, m_2, b) . \tag{93}$$

Since  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  is crucial for the current hypothesis testing, we will then use it to construct the Bayesian inference.

Furthermore, in mocking data analysis, we need to generate the mocking strain data set  $d_k$  for k-th GW event by superposing the corresponding theoretical waveform with realtime detector noise generated from the power spectral density. We then perform Bayesian inference using MCMC or nested sampling algorithm to scan the likelihood. Since the parameter estimation based on MCMC is very time-consuming, as a proof-of-concept study, we assume the Gaussian likelihood, i.e.,

$$p(d_k|\tilde{\Lambda}, H_a) = \mathcal{N}\Big(\tilde{\Lambda}(d_k); \tilde{\Lambda}^{(th)}(H_a), \sigma_{\tilde{\Lambda}}^{(d)}(d_k)\Big),$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{\tilde{\Lambda}}^{(d)}(d_k)} \exp\left[-\frac{\left(\tilde{\Lambda}(d_k) - \tilde{\Lambda}^{(th)}(H_a)\right)^2}{2\left(\sigma_{\tilde{\Lambda}}^{(d)}(d_k)\right)^2}\right].$$
(94)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In case there is some cloud around BH due to phenomena like accretion or superradiance, the TLN would deviate from zero, as

investigated in [203, 204].

In the above, the theoretical value of the effective TLN is represented by  $\tilde{\Lambda}^{(th)}(H_a)$  which should be calculated through the model of EoS and determined by prior, and the "standard deviation"  $\sigma_{\tilde{\Lambda}}^{(d)}(d_k)$  should be inherited from the detector noise so that a louder event, i.e., large SNR, has a smaller deviation. Assuming the universal detector noise, it can then be gauged by the known GW events. In our case, we choose GW170817 as the reference event so that

$$\sigma_{\tilde{\Lambda}}(\rho) = \frac{\rho^{GW170817}}{\rho} \sigma_{\tilde{\Lambda}}^{GW170817}, \qquad (95)$$

where SNR  $\rho$  obeys a universal power-law distribution, [210]

$$f(\rho) = \frac{3\rho_{th}^3}{\rho^4},$$
 (96)

where the threshold SNR is taken to be  $\rho_{th} = 12$ .

Therefore, in our Bayesian model, we consider the effective tidal deformability  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  as the key random variable, whose prior  $p(\tilde{\Lambda}|H_a)$  is determined from the priors of  $\{m_1, m_2, b_a\}$  from the TLN-Mass relation of a given SIDM model. For simplicity, we fix  $b_a = b$  and assume flat priors in a finite range for the parameters  $\{m_1, m_2\}$ , i.e.,

$$p_a(m_1) = \text{Uniform}(m_1 | m_{1,\text{lower}}, m_{1,\text{upper}}, H_a), \qquad (97a)$$

$$p_a(m_2) = \text{Uniform}(m_2 | m_{2,\text{lower}}, m_{2,\text{upper}}, H_a).$$
(97b)

The  $m_{1,2;\text{lower/upper}}$  could be hypothesis dependent. We will examine the effect of EoS parameter b.

With the above preparation for the Bayesian inference for the mock data analysis, for a given mock strain data d, the Bayes factor for the hypothesis testing of discriminating boson stars from the BH is

$$\mathcal{B}_a = \frac{\int d\Lambda \, p(\Lambda | H_a) p(d | \Lambda, H_a)}{p(d | \tilde{\Lambda} = 0, H_0)} , \qquad a = 1, 2.$$
(98)

Since the mock data d should be associated with a given set of binary masses and EoS parameter, i.e.,  $d = d(m_{1,2}^{(d)}, b^{(d)}, \rho^{(d)})$ . Therefore, the resultant Bayes factor should also be a function of these parameters, i.e.,

$$B_a(d) = B_a(m_{1,2}^{(d)}, b^{(d)}, \rho^{(d)}) .$$
(99)

The tomography of  $B_a$  encodes the population distribution of boson stars. Especially for the events in the mass gap, there is no primary BBH event. One can infer the boson star population from the Bayes factor, which reflects the underlying TLN-Mass relation. This tomography can be verified or falsified with future observation data on the gap events. Finally, we should comment that the methodology presented in the section is to examine the probability of the BH mimickers located in gap events based on Bayesian analysis. In other words, we tend to provide a way to determine if the gap events may look like certain ECOs rather than ordinary BH. If we wish to answer questions such as the composition of the ECO, one would need numerical relativity to generate the specific waveforms for a chosen DM model. One should be able to calibrate the inspiral-merger-ringdown waveforms, particularly in the duration of the merger. With such waveform models for DS, hopefully, we can provide the answer to the nature of DM.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

In this review, we have discussed various properties of DSs, mainly the BS supported by self-interactions motivated by particle physics and string theory. Moreover, we have focused on the implication of these BS candidates to the GW observations. We believe the DS will be our universe's universal component if nontrivial DM exists with self-interactions. By the nature of DM, GW emitted from binary DSs will be the most natural and reliable way to detect them and explore their properties. We hope our review can serve as an introductory summary of this topic and guide the novices with an overview of the relevant issues. The DS is a topic covering a wide range of knowledge, and our review can't be complete. We did not discuss much on the formation issues but just some very preliminary proposals. A full-scale study of the DS formations should involve the N-body simulation based on some particular SIDM model and should wait for future works. To be honest, the main obstacle to answering the above difficulties lies in the nature of DM, namely, whether the DM is a single kind of particle or purely modified gravity as the explanation for the missing energy. The mass scale of DM, a fundamental particle or a composite one, the forms and strengths of DM to ordinary particles and themselves. All those properties would change the complete picture of DS formation and populations. Despite that, we hope our review can motivate extensive research on the DS and their observations.

Acknowledgements. The authors thank Alessandro Parisi and Jing-Yi Wu for helpful discussions. FLL and LWL are supported by the National Science and Technology Council (Taiwan), Grant 109-2112-M- 003-007-MY3. CSC is supported by the National Science and Technology Council (Taiwan), Grant MOST 110-2112-M-032-008-. KZ (Hong Zhang) thanks Shanghai City for the fund, which unfortunately cannot be disclosed here.

## Appendix A: Derivation of isotropic Equations of State

In this paper, we study the canonical (massive) complex scalar for boson stars with the following Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi^*\partial_{\nu}\phi - V(|\phi|), \qquad (A1)$$

where

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2 |\phi|^2 + U(|\phi|)$$
 (A2)

where U is the potential for the self-interactions.

Under spherical symmetry, we consider the following the metric ansatz form

$$ds^{2} = -B(r)dt^{2} + A(r)dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega .$$
 (A3)

In such a background, we assume the following stationary and spherical symmetric ansatz for the scalar field,

$$\phi(t,r) = e^{-i\omega t} \Phi(r) . \tag{A4}$$

The field equations for the boson star configurations contain two parts: The first part is the Einstein equation with anisotropic stress tensor given by  $T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \text{diag}(-\rho, p, p_{\perp}, p_{\perp})$ with

$$\rho = m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2 \left[ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\Omega^2}{B} + 1 \right) \sigma^2 + \frac{|\partial_x \sigma|^2}{2A} + \frac{U(M_{\rm pl} \sigma)}{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2} \right] \quad (A5)$$

$$p = m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2 \left[ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\Omega^2}{B} - 1 \right) \sigma^2 + \frac{|\partial_x \sigma|^2}{2A} - \frac{U(M_{\rm pl} \sigma)}{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2} \right] \quad (A6)$$

$$p_{\perp} = p - \frac{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2 |\partial_x \sigma|^2}{A} , \qquad (A7)$$

where we have introduced the following dimensionless scaled quantities

$$x = mr$$
,  $\Omega = \frac{\omega}{m}$ ,  $\sigma = \frac{\Phi}{M_{\rm pl}}$  (A8)

with the Planckian mass  $M_{\rm pl} = 1/\sqrt{4\pi G_N}$ . Note that the anisotropy of the pressures is due to the gradient term  $|\partial_x \sigma|^2$ . The second part of the field equations is the one for  $\Phi$  (or now  $\sigma$ ),

$$\partial_x \left(x^2 \sqrt{\frac{B}{A}} \partial_x \sigma\right) + x^2 \sqrt{AB} \left[ \left(\frac{\Omega^2}{B} - 1\right) \sigma - \frac{U'(M_{\rm pl}\sigma)}{m^2 M_{\rm pl}} \right] = 0, \quad (A9)$$

where  $U'(M_{\rm pl}\sigma) := \frac{\delta U(X)}{\delta X}|_{X=M_{\rm pl}\sigma}$ . Due to the anisotropic stress tensor, the Einstein equation cannot be further reduced to TOV equations. The only way to solve the boson star configuration is to solve the coupled field equations by the shooting method, which is numerically difficult to obtain the full mass-radius or even mass-TLN relations. One simplification is to assume the scalar field profile is almost flat inside the boson stars so that the gradient term  $\partial_x \sigma^2$  in (A5)-(A6) and (A9) can be dropped. However, the gradient term cannot always be small unless for some particular self-interaction regime. To see this, let us assume that for some proper choice of a dimensionless parameter  $\Lambda$ , which is the combination of  $m, \sigma$ , and coupling constants in U, one can have

$$\frac{U(M_{\rm pl}\sigma)}{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2} \longrightarrow \frac{U_*(\sigma_*)}{\Lambda} \qquad \text{where} \quad \sigma_* = \sqrt{\Lambda}\sigma \qquad (A10)$$

with  $U_*$  being in a universal form involving none of the model parameters in V. Note that this above implies

$$\frac{U'(M_{pl}\sigma)}{m^2 M_{\rm pl}} \to \frac{U'_*(\sigma_*)}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} \qquad \text{with} \quad U'_*(X) = \frac{\delta U_*(X)}{\delta X}.$$
 (A11)

If we further scale x by  $x_* = x/\sqrt{\Lambda}$  and assume that A and B are not affected by this scaling, then it is straightforward to see that the terms involving the gradient  $\partial_x \sigma$  in (A5)-(A6) and (A9) are suppressed by  $1/\Lambda$  factor than the other nongradient terms in the corresponding equations. Therefore, the gradient terms can be neglected in the large  $\Lambda$  limit. In this case, scalar field equation (A9) is reduced to the algebraic one

$$\left(\frac{\Omega^2}{B} - 1\right)\sigma_* = U'_*(\sigma_*) . \tag{A12}$$

Then we obtain that, (A5) and (A6) reduce to

$$\rho = \rho_0 \left[ \frac{1}{2} \sigma_* U'_*(\sigma_*) + U_*(\sigma_*) + \sigma_*^2 \right], \qquad (A13)$$

$$p = p_{\perp} = \rho_0 \left[ \frac{1}{2} \sigma_* U'_*(\sigma_*) - U_*(\sigma_*) \right],$$
 (A14)

and the overall energy density scale

$$\rho_0 = \frac{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2}{\Lambda} \,. \tag{A15}$$

Then, for specific EoS, we can insert the corresponding potential  $U_*$  and find the results listed in the main text.

#### Appendix B: Bondi accretion for non-relativistic and relativistic fluids

Bondi accretion [211, 212] is the simplest accretion scenario by assuming spherical symmetry. It can be the approximate mechanism to create the boson stars or the DM spike around a central BH. Consider first the non-relativistic fluid, i.e., the sound speed is far less than the speed of light. Kinematically, the continuity equation  $\frac{1}{r^2} \frac{d}{dr} (r^2 \rho_0 v) = 0$  defines the accretion rate

$$\dot{M} = 4\pi\rho_0 r^2 v \tag{B1}$$

where M is the total mass of the central object,  $\rho_0$  is the mass density of the fluid, r is the radial distance, and v is the magnitude of the inward velocity of the fluid element. On the other hand, the dynamics are dictated by the Euler equation

$$v\frac{dv}{dr} + \frac{1}{\rho_0}\frac{dp}{dr} + \frac{G_NM}{r^2} = 0$$
(B2)

where p is the pressure of the fluid, and  $G_N$  is the Newton constant. Use the definition of the sound speed  $c_s^2 = \frac{dp}{d\rho_0}$ , we can turn the Euler equation into

$$\frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{c_s^2}{v^2} \right) \frac{dv^2}{dr} = -\frac{G_N M}{r^2} \left( 1 - \frac{2c_s^2 r}{G_N M} \right) \,. \tag{B3}$$

Note that  $c_s = c_s(r)$ . This equation predicts a sonic horizon at  $r = r_s$  with  $r_s = \frac{G_N M}{2c_s^2(r_s)}$ , at which  $v(r_s) = c_s(r_s)$ . It is naturally assumed the fluid speed v approaches zero at r = 0, so the Euler equation tells that v is monotonically increasing toward the sonic horizon; thus  $v > c_s$  for  $r < r_s$ . If we further assume the equation of state of the fluid is in the polytropic form  $p = \kappa \rho_0^{\gamma}$ , the Euler equation yields

$$\frac{v^2}{2} + \frac{c_s^2}{\gamma - 1} - \frac{G_N M}{r} = \text{constant} = \frac{c_s^2(\infty)}{\gamma - 1} .$$
 (B4)

Along with the above boundary condition, we obtain

$$c_s(r_s) = c_s(\infty) \left(\frac{2}{5-3\gamma}\right)^{1/2}$$
. (B5)

On the other hand, from the continuity equation (B1), we have  $\dot{M} = -4\pi r^2 \rho_0 v = 4\pi r_s^2 \rho_0(r_s) c_s(r_s)$ , which can yield

$$\rho_0(r_s) = \rho_0(\infty) \left[ \frac{c_s(r_s)}{c_s(\infty)} \right]^{2/(\gamma-1)}$$
(B6)

and

$$\dot{M} = \pi G_N^2 M^2 \frac{\rho_0(\infty)}{c_s^3(\infty)} \left[\frac{2}{5-3\gamma}\right]^{\frac{(5-3\gamma)}{2(\gamma-1)}}.$$
(B7)

Therefore, the accretion rate is determined by  $\gamma$ , the total mass M of the central object, and the boundary values  $\rho_0(\infty)$ and  $c_s(\infty)$ .

However, the DM can be relativistic, e.g., the selfinteracting relativistic bosonic scalar, then the above nonrelativistic formulation of Bondi accretion can fail. For the relativistic fluid, the energy density  $\rho$  is different from the mass density  $\rho_0$  used above, and they are related by [213]

$$\left(\frac{d\rho}{d\rho_0}\right)_{\rm ad} = \frac{\rho + p}{\rho_0} \tag{B8}$$

where the subscript ad indicates the variation is adiabatic. The continuity equation takes the same form as (B1), however, the Bernoulli equation (B3) should be replaced by its relativistic partner [167, 213, 214] in the background Schwarzschild metric,

$$\left(\frac{p+\rho}{\rho_0}\right)^2 \left(1+v^2 - \frac{2G_NM}{r}\right) = \left(\frac{p(\infty)+\rho(\infty)}{\rho_0(\infty)}\right)^2, \quad (B9)$$

and the sonic horizon  $r_s$  is at where the local Mach number equal to one [213], i.e.,

$$\frac{v/c_s}{\sqrt{1 - 2G_N M/r_s + v^2}} = 1.$$
 (B10)

Thus, given the equation of state  $p = p(\rho)$ , we can solve the accretion rate  $\dot{M}$  and the sound speed profile  $c_s(r)$  in a similar way to the non-relativistic case. In [167], the relativistic Bondi accretion for the  $\lambda |\phi^4|$  self-interaction bosonic scalar of mass m has been studied. In this case, the accretion rate can be obtained analytically as follows,

$$\dot{M} \equiv 8\pi G_N^2 M^2 \frac{\rho_B}{c^3} \left(\frac{c^2 + 3c_s^2}{c^2 - 3c_s^2}\right)^{3/2} \sqrt{\frac{c^2 - c_s^2}{c_s^2}} , \qquad (B11)$$

- Albert Einstein. N\u00e4herungsweise integration der feldgleichungen der gravitation. Sitzungsber. K. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., 1:688, 1916.
- [2] Albert Einstein. Über gravitationswellen. Sitzungsber. K. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., page 154, 1918.
- [3] B. P. Abbott et al. Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116(6):061102, 2016.
- [4] Xiangyi Cui et al. Dark Matter Results From 54-Ton-Day Exposure of PandaX-II Experiment. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 119(18):181302, 2017.
- [5] Yue Meng et al. Dark Matter Search Results from the PandaX-4T Commissioning Run. Phys. Rev. Lett., 127(26):261802, 2021.
- [6] D. S. Akerib et al. Results from a search for dark matter in the complete LUX exposure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 118(2):021303, 2017.
- [7] C. Amole et al. Dark Matter Search Results from the Complete Exposure of the PICO-60  $C_3F_8$  Bubble Chamber. *Phys. Rev. D*, 100(2):022001, 2019.
- [8] E. Behnke et al. Final Results of the PICASSO Dark Matter Search Experiment. Astropart. Phys., 90:85–92, 2017.
- [9] E. Aprile et al. Projected WIMP sensitivity of the XENONnT dark matter experiment. JCAP, 11:031, 2020.
- [10] J. E. Gunn, B. W. Lee, I. Lerche, D. N. Schramm, and G. Steigman. Some Astrophysical Consequences of the Existence of a Heavy Stable Neutral Lepton. Astrophys. J., 223:1015–1031, 1978.
- [11] F. W. Stecker. The Cosmic Gamma-Ray Background

where c is the speed of light and the normalization for the mass density

$$\rho_B = \frac{3.48 \times 10^{20}}{\lambda} \left(\frac{m}{\text{GeV}}\right)^4 \text{kg m}^{-3} , \qquad (B12)$$

and the sound speed in terms of the boundary value,

$$c_s^2 = \frac{c^2 - 3c_s^2(\infty) + \sqrt{c^2 + 66c_s^2(\infty) - 63c_s^4(\infty)}}{18(c^2 - c_s^2(\infty))} .$$
(B13)

Furthermore, note that  $1/9 \le c_s^2 < 1/3$  so that

$$\dot{M}_{min} \le \dot{M} < \infty$$
 (B14)

where

1

$$\dot{M}_{min} := 64\pi \frac{G_N^2 M^2}{c^3} \rho_B .$$
 (B15)

For a typical dark halo with a dispersion velocity of about 100  $\rm km~s^{-1},$ 

$$\dot{M}_{min} \approx 1.4 \times 10^{-9} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\odot}}\right)^2 M_{\odot} \text{ yr}^{-1}.$$
 (B16)

This is too slow an accretion rate to form astrophysical-sized DS. Therefore, forming DS from pure Bondi accretion mechanism is hard. However, it can be adapted to consider the dark spike around a supermassive BH as considered in [167]. An interesting extension to the Bondi accretion around a moving BH can be found in [215].

from the Annihilation of Primordial Stable Neutral Heavy Leptons. *Astrophys. J.*, 223:1032–1036, 1978.

- [12] A. Albert et al. Dark Matter Limits From Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies with The HAWC Gamma-Ray Observatory. Astrophys. J., 853(2):154, 2018.
- [13] M. G. Aartsen et al. Search for dark matter annihilations in the Sun with the 79-string IceCube detector. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110(13):131302, 2013.
- [14] J. Chang et al. The DArk Matter Particle Explorer mission. Astropart. Phys., 95:6–24, 2017.
- [15] M. Aguilar et al. Antiproton Flux, Antiproton-to-Proton Flux Ratio, and Properties of Elementary Particle Fluxes in Primary Cosmic Rays Measured with the Alpha Magnetic Spectrometer on the International Space Station. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 117(9):091103, 2016.
- [16] O. Adriani et al. Cosmic-Ray Positron Energy Spectrum Measured by PAMELA. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 111:081102, 2013.
- [17] W. B. Atwood et al. The Large Area Telescope on the Fermi Gamma-ray Space Telescope Mission. Astrophys. J., 697:1071–1102, 2009.
- [18] A. Abramowski et al. Search for a Dark Matter annihilation signal from the Galactic Center halo with H.E.S.S. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:161301, 2011.
- [19] Search for light long-lived neutral particles that decay to collimated pairs of leptons or light hadrons in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector. 6 2022.
- [20] Search for the Production of Dark Matter in Association with Top Quark Pairs in the Di-lepton Final State in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV. 2014.

- [21] George R. Blumenthal, S. M. Faber, Joel R. Primack, and Martin J. Rees. Formation of Galaxies and Large Scale Structure with Cold Dark Matter. *Nature*, 311:517–525, 1984.
- [22] Wayne Hu. Structure formation with generalized dark matter. Astrophys. J., 506:485–494, 1998.
- [23] Manoj Kaplinghat, Sean Tulin, and Hai-Bo Yu. Dark Matter Halos as Particle Colliders: Unified Solution to Small-Scale Structure Puzzles from Dwarfs to Clusters. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116(4):041302, 2016.
- [24] Ren-yue Cen, Jordi Miralda-Escude, Jeremiah P. Ostriker, and Michael Rauch. Gravitational collapse of small scale structure as the origin of the Lyman alpha forest. Astrophys. J. Lett., 437:L9, 1994.
- [25] Torsten Bringmann. Particle Models and the Small-Scale Structure of Dark Matter. New J. Phys., 11:105027, 2009.
- [26] Mark Vogelsberger, Jesus Zavala, Francis-Yan Cyr-Racine, Christoph Pfrommer, Torsten Bringmann, and Kris Sigurdson. ETHOS – an effective theory of structure formation: dark matter physics as a possible explanation of the small-scale CDM problems. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 460(2):1399–1416, 2016.
- [27] Robert Foot and Sunny Vagnozzi. Solving the smallscale structure puzzles with dissipative dark matter. *JCAP*, 07:013, 2016.
- [28] Sean Tulin and Hai-Bo Yu. Dark Matter Selfinteractions and Small Scale Structure. *Phys. Rept.*, 730:1–57, 2018.
- [29] Alvio Renzini. Stellar population diagnostics of elliptical galaxy formation. Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys., 44:141–192, 2006.
- [30] Fred Hamann and Gary Ferland. Elemental abundances in quasistellar objects: star formation and galactic nuclear evolution at high redshifts. Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys., 37:487–531, 1999.
- [31] W. Israel. Dark stars: the evolution of an idea. In *Three Hundred Years of Gravitation*, pages 199–276. 1987.
- [32] Katherine Freese, Tanja Rindler-Daller, Douglas Spolyar, and Monica Valluri. Dark stars: a review. *Reports* on Progress in Physics, 79(6):066902, may 2016.
- [33] Andrea Maselli, Pantelis Pnigouras, Niklas Gronlund Nielsen, Chris Kouvaris, and Kostas D. Kokkotas. Dark stars: gravitational and electromagnetic observables. *Phys. Rev. D*, 96(2):023005, 2017.
- [34] B. P. Abbott et al. GWTC-1: A Gravitational-Wave Transient Catalog of Compact Binary Mergers Observed by LIGO and Virgo during the First and Second Observing Runs. *Phys. Rev. X*, 9(3):031040, 2019.
- [35] R. Abbott et al. GWTC-2.1: Deep Extended Catalog of Compact Binary Coalescences Observed by LIGO and Virgo During the First Half of the Third Observing Run. 8 2021.
- [36] R. Abbott et al. GWTC-3: Compact Binary Coalescences Observed by LIGO and Virgo During the Second Part of the Third Observing Run. 11 2021.
- [37] Thomas Ertl, Stan E. Woosley, Tuguldur Sukhbold, and H. Thomas Janka. The Explosion of Helium Stars Evolved With Mass Loss. 10 2019.
- [38] Krzysztof Belczynski. The most ordinary formation of the most unusual double black hole merger. Astrophys. J. Lett., 905(2):L15, 2020.
- [39] M. Tanabashi, K. Hagiwara, K. Hikasa, K. Nakamura, Y. Sumino, F. Takahashi, J. Tanaka, K. Agashe,

G. Aielli, C. Amsler, M. Antonelli, D. M. Asner, H. Baer, Sw. Banerjee, R. M. Barnett, T. Basaglia, C. W. Bauer, J. J. Beatty, V. I. Belousov, J. Beringer, S. Bethke, A. Bettini, H. Bichsel, O. Biebel, K. M. Black, E. Blucher, O. Buchmuller, V. Burkert, M. A. Bychkov, R. N. Cahn, M. Carena, A. Ceccucci, A. Cerri, D. Chakraborty, M.-C. Chen, R. S. Chivukula, G. Cowan, O. Dahl, G. D'Ambrosio, T. Damour, D. de Florian, A. de Gouvêa, T. DeGrand, P. de Jong, G. Dissertori, B. A. Dobrescu, M. D'Onofrio, M. Doser, M. Drees, H. K. Dreiner, D. A. Dwyer, P. Eerola, S. Eidelman, J. Ellis, J. Erler, V. V. Ezhela, W. Fetscher, B. D. Fields, R. Firestone, B. Foster, A. Freitas, H. Gallagher, L. Garren, H.-J. Gerber, G. Gerbier, T. Gershon, Y. Gershtein, T. Gherghetta, A. A. Godizov, M. Goodman, C. Grab, A. V. Gritsan, C. Grojean, D. E. Groom, M. Grünewald, A. Gurtu, T. Gutsche, H. E. Haber, C. Hanhart, S. Hashimoto, Y. Hayato, K. G. Hayes, A. Hebecker, S. Heinemeyer, B. Heltsley, J. J. Hernández-Rey, J. Hisano, A. Höcker, J. Holder, A. Holtkamp, T. Hyodo, K. D. Irwin, K. F. Johnson, M. Kado, M. Karliner, U. F. Katz, S. R. Klein, E. Klempt, R. V. Kowalewski, F. Krauss, M. Kreps, B. Krusche, Yu. V. Kuyanov, Y. Kwon, O. Lahav, J. Laiho, J. Lesgourgues, A. Liddle, Z. Ligeti, C.-J. Lin, C. Lippmann, T. M. Liss, L. Littenberg, K. S. Lugovsky, S. B. Lugovsky, A. Lusiani, Y. Makida, F. Maltoni, T. Mannel, A. V. Manohar, W. J. Marciano, A. D. Martin, A. Masoni, J. Matthews, U.-G. Meißner, D. Milstead, R. E. Mitchell, K. Mönig, P. Molaro, F. Moortgat, M. Moskovic, H. Muravama, M. Narain, P. Nason, S. Navas, M. Neubert, P. Nevski, Y. Nir, K. A. Olive, S. Pagan Griso, J. Parsons, C. Patrignani, J. A. Peacock, M. Pennington, S. T. Petcov. V. A. Petrov, E. Pianori, A. Piepke, A. Pomarol, A. Quadt, J. Rademacker, G. Raffelt, B. N. Ratcliff, P. Richardson, A. Ringwald, S. Roesler, S. Rolli, A. Romaniouk, L. J. Rosenberg, J. L. Rosner, G. Rybka, R. A. Ryutin, C. T. Sachrajda, Y. Sakai, G. P. Salam, S. Sarkar, F. Sauli, O. Schneider, K. Scholberg, A. J. Schwartz, D. Scott, V. Sharma, S. R. Sharpe, T. Shutt, M. Silari, T. Sjöstrand, P. Skands, T. Skwarnicki, J. G. Smith, G. F. Smoot, S. Spanier, H. Spieler, C. Spiering, A. Stahl, S. L. Stone, T. Sumiyoshi, M. J. Syphers, K. Terashi, J. Terning, U. Thoma, R. S. Thorne, L. Tiator, M. Titov, N. P. Tkachenko, N. A. Törnqvist, D. R. Tovey, G. Valencia, R. Van de Water, N. Varelas, G. Venanzoni, L. Verde, M. G. Vincter, P. Vogel, A. Vogt, S. P. Wakely, W. Walkowiak, C. W. Walter, D. Wands, D. R. Ward, M. O. Wascko, G. Weiglein, D. H. Weinberg, E. J. Weinberg, M. White, L. R. Wiencke, S. Willocq, C. G. Wohl, J. Womersley, C. L. Woody, R. L. Workman, W.-M. Yao, G. P. Zeller, O. V. Zenin, R.-Y. Zhu, S.-L. Zhu, F. Zimmermann, P. A. Zyla, J. Anderson, L. Fuller, V. S. Lugovsky, and P. Schaffner. Review of particle physics. Phys. Rev. D, 98:030001, Aug 2018.

- [40] Adam G. Riess et al. Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant. Astron. J., 116:1009–1038, 1998.
- [41] W. J. G. de Blok. The Core-Cusp Problem. Adv. Astron., 2010:789293, 2010.
- [42] B. Moore. Evidence against dissipationless dark matter from observations of galaxy haloes. *Nature*, 370:629,

1994.

- [43] Ricardo A. Flores and Joel R. Primack. Observational and theoretical constraints on singular dark matter halos. Astrophys. J. Lett., 427:L1-4, 1994.
- [44] Julio F. Navarro, Carlos S. Frenk, and Simon D. M. White. A Universal density profile from hierarchical clustering. *Astrophys. J.*, 490:493–508, 1997.
- [45] Matthew G. Walker and Jorge Penarrubia. A Method for Measuring (Slopes of) the Mass Profiles of Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies. Astrophys. J., 742:20, 2011.
- [46] Se-Heon Oh, W. J. G. de Blok, Elias Brinks, Fabian Walter, and Robert C. Kennicutt, Jr. Dark and luminous matter in THINGS dwarf galaxies. Astron. J., 141:193, 2011.
- [47] Andrea V. Maccio, Sinziana Paduroiu, Donnino Anderhalden, Aurel Schneider, and Ben Moore. Cores in warm dark matter haloes: a Catch 22 problem. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, 424:1105–1112, 2012.
- [48] Matthew G. Walker. Dark Matter in the Milky Way's Dwarf Spheroidal Satellites. 5 2012.
- [49] Michael Boylan-Kolchin, James S. Bullock, and Manoj Kaplinghat. Too big to fail? The puzzling darkness of massive Milky Way subhaloes. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, 415:L40, 2011.
- [50] Michael Boylan-Kolchin, James S. Bullock, and Manoj Kaplinghat. The Milky Way's bright satellites as an apparent failure of LCDM. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 422:1203–1218, 2012.
- [51] Jonathan L. Feng, Manoj Kaplinghat, and Hai-Bo Yu. Halo Shape and Relic Density Exclusions of Sommerfeld-Enhanced Dark Matter Explanations of Cosmic Ray Excesses. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:151301, 2010.
- [52] Laura G. van den Aarssen, Torsten Bringmann, and Christoph Pfrommer. Is dark matter with longrange interactions a solution to all small-scale problems of \Lambda CDM cosmology? *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 109:231301, 2012.
- [53] Sean Tulin, Hai-Bo Yu, and Kathryn M. Zurek. Resonant Dark Forces and Small Scale Structure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110(11):111301, 2013.
- [54] Sean Tulin, Hai-Bo Yu, and Kathryn M. Zurek. Beyond Collisionless Dark Matter: Particle Physics Dynamics for Dark Matter Halo Structure. *Phys. Rev. D*, 87(11):115007, 2013.
- [55] R. Abbott et. Al. (LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration). Gwtc-2: Compact binary coalescences observed by ligo and virgo during the first half of the third observing run. *Phys. Rev. X.*, 11, 021053, 2021.
- [56] B.P. Abbott et al. GW170817: Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Neutron Star Inspiral. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 119(16):161101, 2017.
- [57] B.P. Abbott et al. Properties of the binary neutron star merger GW170817. Phys. Rev. X, 9(1):011001, 2019.
- [58] A. Goldstein et al. An Ordinary Short Gamma-Ray Burst with Extraordinary Implications: Fermi-GBM Detection of GRB 170817A. Astrophys. J. Lett., 848(2):L14, 2017.
- [59] Wolfgang Kastaun and Frank Ohme. Finite tidal effects in GW170817: Observational evidence or model assumptions? *Phys. Rev. D*, 100(10):103023, 2019.
- [60] B.P. Abbott et al. GW190425: Observation of a Compact Binary Coalescence with Total Mass  $\sim 3.4 M_{\odot}$ . As-

trophys. J. Lett., 892(1):L3, 2020.

- [61] R. Abbott et al. Observation of Gravitational Waves from Two Neutron Star–Black Hole Coalescences. Astrophys. J. Lett., 915(1):L5, 2021.
- [62] R. Abbott et. Al. (LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration). Gw190521: A binary black hole merger with a total mass of 150 solar mass. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 125. 101102, 2020.
- [63] R. Abbott et al. GW190814: Gravitational Waves from the Coalescence of a 23 Solar Mass Black Hole with a 2.6 Solar Mass Compact Object. Astrophys. J. Lett., 896(2):L44, 2020.
- [64] Ben Margalit and Brian D. Metzger. Constraining the Maximum Mass of Neutron Stars From Multi-Messenger Observations of GW170817. Astrophys. J. Lett., 850(2):L19, 2017.
- [65] Luciano Rezzolla, Elias R. Most, and Lukas R. Weih. Using gravitational-wave observations and quasiuniversal relations to constrain the maximum mass of neutron stars. Astrophys. J. Lett., 852(2):L25, 2018.
- [66] Bruce Edelman, Zoheyr Doctor, and Ben Farr. Poking Holes: Looking for Gaps in LIGO/Virgo's Black Hole Population. Astrophys. J. Lett., 913(2):L23, 2021.
- [67] Laura Kreidberg, Charles D. Bailyn, Will M. Farr, and Vicky Kalogera. Mass measurements of black holes in xray transients: Is there a mass gap? *The Astrophysical Journal*, 757(1):36, Sep 2012.
- [68] B. P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott, S. Abraham, F. Acernese, K. Ackley, C. Adams, R. X. Adhikari, V. B. Adya, C. Affeldt, and et al. Binary black hole population properties inferred from the first and second observing runs of advanced ligo and advanced virgo. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 882(2):L24, Sep 2019.
- [69] S. E. Woosley. Pulsational pair-instability supernovae. The Astrophysical Journal, 836(2):244, Feb 2017.
- [70] Gonzalo Morras et al. Analysis of a subsolar-mass black hole trigger from the second observing run of Advanced LIGO. 1 2023.
- [71] Juan Garcia-Bellido, Andrei D. Linde, and David Wands. Density perturbations and black hole formation in hybrid inflation. *Phys. Rev. D*, 54:6040–6058, 1996.
- [72] Dan Hooper and Tilman Plehn. Supersymmetric dark matter: How light can the LSP be? *Phys. Lett. B*, 562:18–27, 2003.
- [73] Jonathan L. Feng, Shufang Su, and Fumihiro Takayama. Supergravity with a gravitino LSP. *Phys. Rev. D*, 70:075019, 2004.
- [74] F. Capozzi, G. L. Fogli, E. Lisi, A. Marrone, D. Montanino, and A. Palazzo. Status of three-neutrino oscillation parameters, circa 2013. *Phys. Rev. D*, 89:093018, 2014.
- [75] Uros Seljak et al. Cosmological parameter analysis including SDSS Ly-alpha forest and galaxy bias: Constraints on the primordial spectrum of fluctuations, neutrino mass, and dark energy. *Phys. Rev. D*, 71:103515, 2005.
- [76] Ivan Esteban, M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, Alvaro Hernandez-Cabezudo, Michele Maltoni, and Thomas Schwetz. Global analysis of three-flavour neutrino oscillations: synergies and tensions in the determination of  $\theta_{23}$ ,  $\delta_{CP}$ , and the mass ordering. *JHEP*, 01:106, 2019.
- [77] M. Aker et al. Improved Upper Limit on the Neutrino Mass from a Direct Kinematic Method by KATRIN.

Phys. Rev. Lett., 123(22):221802, 2019.

- [78] Peter Minkowski.  $\mu \to e\gamma$  at a Rate of One Out of  $10^9$ Muon Decays? *Phys. Lett. B*, 67:421–428, 1977.
- [79] P. Q. Hung. A Model of electroweak-scale right-handed neutrino mass. *Phys. Lett. B*, 649:275–279, 2007.
- [80] Chris Kouvaris. Limits on Self-Interacting Dark Matter. Phys. Rev. Lett., 108:191301, 2012.
- [81] Joseph Bramante, Keita Fukushima, Jason Kumar, and Elan Stopnitzky. Bounds on self-interacting fermion dark matter from observations of old neutron stars. *Phys. Rev. D*, 89(1):015010, 2014.
- [82] Chian-Shu Chen, Fei-Fan Lee, Guey-Lin Lin, and Yen-Hsun Lin. The dark matter self-interaction and its impact on the critical mass for dark matter evaporations inside the sun. Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc., 273-275:347– 352, 2016.
- [83] Somnath Mukhopadhyay, Debasis Atta, Kouser Imam, DN Basu, and C Samanta. Compact bifluid hybrid stars: hadronic matter mixed with self-interacting fermionic asymmetric dark matter. *The European Physical Journal C*, 77:1–9, 2017.
- [84] Stephan Wystub, Yannick Dengler, Jan-Erik Christian, and Jürgen Schaffner-Bielich. Constraining exotic compact stars composed of bosonic and fermionic dark matter with gravitational wave events. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, 521(1):1393–1398, 2023.
- [85] César H. Lenzi, Mariana Dutra, Odilon Lourenco, Luiz L. Lopes, and Débora P. Menezes. Dark matter effects on hybrid star properties. *Eur. Phys. J. C*, 83(3):266, 2023.
- [86] Loris Del Grosso, Gabriele Franciolini, Paolo Pani, and Alfredo Urbano. Fermion soliton stars. *Phys. Rev. D*, 108(4):044024, 2023.
- [87] M. Colpi, S.L. Shapiro, and I. Wasserman. Boson Stars: Gravitational Equilibria of Selfinteracting Scalar Fields. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 57:2485–2488, 1986.
- [88] Joshua Eby, Chris Kouvaris, Niklas Gronlund Nielsen, and L. C. R. Wijewardhana. Boson Stars from Self-Interacting Dark Matter. *JHEP*, 02:028, 2016.
- [89] Edward Witten. Cosmic Separation of Phases. Phys. Rev. D, 30:272–285, 1984.
- [90] B. C. Parija. Dynamical effects of quantum chromodynamics on the surface tension of a cold strange quark nugget. *Phys. Rev. C*, 48:2483–2490, 1993.
- [91] Kyle Lawson. Atmospheric radio signals from quark nugget dark matter. Phys. Rev. D, 88(4):043519, 2013.
- [92] Kyle Lawson and Ariel R. Zhitnitsky. Isotropic Radio Background from Quark Nugget Dark Matter. *Phys. Lett. B*, 724:17–21, 2013.
- [93] Shuailiang Ge, Kyle Lawson, and Ariel Zhitnitsky. Axion quark nugget dark matter model: Size distribution and survival pattern. *Phys. Rev. D*, 99(11):116017, 2019.
- [94] Ariel R. Zhitnitsky. 'Nonbaryonic' dark matter as baryonic color superconductor. JCAP, 10:010, 2003.
- [95] Ya. B.; Novikov Zel'dovich, I. D. The Hypothesis of Cores Retarded during Expansion and the Hot Cosmological Model. *Soviet Astron. AJ (Engl. Transl. )*,, 10:602, 1967.
- [96] Stephen Hawking. Gravitationally collapsed objects of very low mass. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 152:75, 1971.
- [97] Bernard J. Carr and S. W. Hawking. Black holes in the early Universe. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 168:399–

415, 1974.

- [98] George F. Chapline. Cosmological effects of primordial black holes. *Nature*, 253(5489):251–252, 1975.
- [99] S. W. Hawking. Black hole explosions. *Nature*, 248:30– 31, 1974.
- [100] S. W. Hawking. Particle Creation by Black Holes. Commun. Math. Phys., 43:199–220, 1975. [Erratum: Commun.Math.Phys. 46, 206 (1976)].
- [101] Don N. Page. Particle Emission Rates from a Black Hole: Massless Particles from an Uncharged, Nonrotating Hole. *Phys. Rev. D*, 13:198–206, 1976.
- [102] Richard H. Cyburt, Brian D. Fields, and Keith A. Olive. Primordial nucleosynthesis in light of WMAP. *Phys. Lett. B*, 567:227–234, 2003.
- [103] Bernard J. Carr. The Primordial black hole mass spectrum. Astrophys. J., 201:1–19, 1975.
- [104] Bernard Carr and Florian Kuhnel. Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter Candidates. In Les Houches summer school on Dark Matter, 10 2021.
- [105] Bernard Carr, Kazunori Kohri, Yuuiti Sendouda, and Jun'ichi Yokoyama. Constraints on primordial black holes. *Rept. Prog. Phys.*, 84(11):116902, 2021.
- [106] Misao Sasaki, Teruaki Suyama, Takahiro Tanaka, and Shuichiro Yokoyama. Primordial black holes—perspectives in gravitational wave astronomy. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 35(6):063001, 2018.
- [107] Anne M. Green and Bradley J. Kavanagh. Primordial Black Holes as a dark matter candidate. J. Phys. G, 48(4):043001, 2021.
- [108] M.Yu. Khlopov and A.G. Polnarev. Primordial black holes as a cosmological test of grand unification. *Physics Letters B*, 97(3):383–387, 1980.
- [109] Peter Widerin and Christoph Schmid. Primordial black holes from the QCD transition? 8 1998.
- [110] J. C. Niemeyer and K. Jedamzik. Dynamics of primordial black hole formation. *Phys. Rev. D*, 59:124013, May 1999.
- [111] S.W. Hawking. Black holes from cosmic strings. *Physics Letters B*, 231(3):237–239, 1989.
- [112] Alexander Polnarev and Robert Zembowicz. Formation of primordial black holes by cosmic strings. *Phys. Rev.* D, 43:1106–1109, Feb 1991.
- [113] Jaume Garriga and Maria Sakellariadou. Effects of friction on cosmic strings. *Phys. Rev. D*, 48:2502–2515, Sep 1993.
- [114] R. R. Caldwell and Paul Casper. Formation of black holes from collapsed cosmic string loops. *Phys. Rev. D*, 53:3002–3010, Mar 1996.
- [115] Jane H. MacGibbon, Robert H. Brandenberger, and U. F. Wichoski. Limits on black hole formation from cosmic string loops. *Phys. Rev. D*, 57:2158–2165, Feb 1998.
- [116] Matt Crawford and David N. Schramm. Spontaneous Generation of Density Perturbations in the Early Universe. *Nature*, 298:538–540, 1982.
- [117] S. W. Hawking, I. G. Moss, and J. M. Stewart. Bubble collisions in the very early universe. *Phys. Rev. D*, 26:2681–2693, Nov 1982.
- [118] Hideo Kodama, Misao Sasaki, and Katsuhiko Sato. Abundance of Primordial Holes Produced by Cosmological First Order Phase Transition. *Prog. Theor. Phys.*, 68:1979, 1982.
- [119] Daile La and Paul J. Steinhardt. Bubble percolation in extended inflationary models. *Physics Letters B*,

220(3):375-378, 1989.

- [120] Ian G. Moss. Singularity formation from colliding bubbles. Phys. Rev. D, 50:676–681, Jul 1994.
- [121] R. V. Konoplich, S. G. Rubin, A. S. Sakharov, and M. Yu. Khlopov. Formation of black holes in first-order phase transitions in the Universe. *Astronomy Letters*, 24(4):413–417, July 1998.
- [122] M. Yu. Khlopov, R. V. Konoplich, S. G. Rubin, and A. S. Sakharov. First order phase transitions as a source of black holes in the early universe. *Grav. Cosmol.*, 2:S1, 1999.
- [123] V.A. Berezin, V.A. Kuzmin, and I.I. Tkachev. Thin-wall vacuum domain evolution. *Physics Letters B*, 120(1):91– 96, 1983.
- [124] R. R. Caldwell, H. A. Chamblin, and G. W. Gibbons. Pair creation of black holes by domain walls. *Phys. Rev.* D, 53:7103–7114, Jun 1996.
- [125] S. G. Rubin, M. Yu. Khlopov, and A. S. Sakharov. Primordial black holes from nonequilibrium second order phase transition. *Grav. Cosmol.*, 6:51–58, 2000.
- [126] Tomohiro Matsuda. Primordial black holes from cosmic necklaces. Journal of High Energy Physics, 2006(04):017–017, apr 2006.
- [127] Matthew Lake, Steve Thomas, and John Ward. String necklaces and primordial black holes from type IIB strings. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, 2009(12):033– 033, dec 2009.
- [128] William H. Press and Paul Schechter. Formation of galaxies and clusters of galaxies by selfsimilar gravitational condensation. Astrophys. J., 187:425–438, 1974.
- [129] Marta Volonteri. Formation of Supermassive Black Holes. Astron. Astrophys. Rev., 18:279–315, 2010.
- [130] Rachel Bean and Joao Magueijo. Could supermassive black holes be quintessential primordial black holes? *Phys. Rev. D*, 66:063505, 2002.
- [131] Bernard Carr and Joseph Silk. Primordial Black Holes as Generators of Cosmic Structures. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 478(3):3756–3775, 2018.
- [132] R. Abbott et al. GW190521: A Binary Black Hole Merger with a Total Mass of  $150 M_{\odot}$ . *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 125(10):101102, 2020.
- [133] Gian F. Giudice, Matthew McCullough, and Alfredo Urbano. Hunting for Dark Particles with Gravitational Waves. JCAP, 10:001, 2016.
- [134] F. Douchin and P. Haensel. A unified equation of state of dense matter and neutron star structure. Astron. Astrophys., 380:151, 2001.
- [135] A. Akmal, V. R. Pandharipande, and D. G. Ravenhall. The Equation of state of nucleon matter and neutron star structure. *Phys. Rev. C*, 58:1804–1828, 1998.
- [136] F. Gulminelli and Ad. R. Raduta. Unified treatment of subsaturation stellar matter at zero and finite temperature. *Phys. Rev. C*, 92(5):055803, 2015.
- [137] Tim Dietrich, Michael W. Coughlin, Peter T. H. Pang, Mattia Bulla, Jack Heinzel, Lina Issa, Ingo Tews, and Sarah Antier. Multimessenger constraints on the neutron-star equation of state and the Hubble constant. *Science*, 370(6523):1450–1453, 2020.
- [138] T. D. Lee and Y. Pang. Nontopological solitons. *Phys. Rept.*, 221:251–350, 1992.
- [139] R. Friedberg, T. D. Lee, and Y. Pang. Scalar Soliton Stars and Black Holes. *Phys. Rev. D*, 35:3658, 1987.
- [140] R. Friedberg, T. D. Lee, and Y. Pang. MINI SOLITON STARS. *Phys. Rev. D*, 35:3640, 1987.

- [141] Richard C. Tolman. Static solutions of Einstein's field equations for spheres of fluid. *Phys. Rev.*, 55:364–373, 1939.
- [142] J.R. Oppenheimer and G.M. Volkoff. On Massive neutron cores. *Phys. Rev.*, 55:374–381, 1939.
- [143] Somnath Mukhopadhyay, Debasis Atta, Kouser Imam, D.N. Basu, and C. Samanta. Compact bifluid hybrid stars: Hadronic Matter mixed with self-interacting fermionic Asymmetric Dark Matter. *Eur. Phys. J. C*, 77(7):440, 2017. [Erratum: Eur.Phys.J.C 77, 553 (2017)].
- [144] Zeinab Rezaei. Double dark-matter admixed neutron star. Int. J. Mod. Phys. D, 27(16):1950002, 2018.
- [145] Kip S. Thorne. Tidal stabilization of rigidly rotating, fully relativistic neutron stars. *Phys. Rev. D*, 58:124031, 1998.
- [146] Eanna E. Flanagan and Tanja Hinderer. Constraining neutron star tidal Love numbers with gravitational wave detectors. *Phys. Rev. D*, 77:021502, 2008.
- [147] Tanja Hinderer. Tidal Love numbers of neutron stars. Astrophys. J., 677:1216–1220, 2008.
- [148] Sergey Postnikov, Madappa Prakash, and James M. Lattimer. Tidal Love Numbers of Neutron and Self-Bound Quark Stars. *Phys. Rev. D*, 82:024016, 2010.
- [149] Kent Yagi and Nicolas Yunes. I-Love-Q. Science, 341:365–368, 2013.
- [150] James M. Lattimer and F. Douglas Swesty. A Generalized equation of state for hot, dense matter. Nucl. Phys. A, 535:331–376, 1991.
- [151] H. Shen, H. Toki, K. Oyamatsu, and K. Sumiyoshi. Relativistic equation of state of nuclear matter for supernova and neutron star. *Nucl. Phys. A*, 637:435–450, 1998.
- [152] V. R. Pandharipande and R. A. Smith. A model neutron solid with  $\pi$  0 condensate. *Nucl. Phys.* A, 237:507–532, 1975.
- [153] M. Prakash, J. R. Cooke, and J. M. Lattimer. Quark - hadron phase transition in protoneutron stars. *Phys. Rev. D*, 52:661–665, 1995.
- [154] Jing-Yi Wu, Wei Li, Xin-Han Huang, and Kilar Zhang. Dark I-Love-Q. 9 2023.
- [155] Kilar Zhang, Guo-Zhang Huang, Jie-Shiun Tsao, and Feng-Li Lin. GW170817 and GW190425 as hybrid stars of dark and nuclear matter. *Eur. Phys. J. C*, 82(4):366, 2022.
- [156] Kilar Zhang and Feng-Li Lin. Constraint on hybrid stars with gravitational wave events. Universe, 6(12):231, 2020.
- [157] Ben Kain. Radial oscillations and stability of multiplefluid compact stars. *Phys. Rev. D*, 102(2):023001, 2020.
- [158] Ben Kain. Dark matter admixed neutron stars. Phys. Rev. D, 103(4):043009, 2021.
- [159] Ben Kain. Boson stars and their radial oscillations. *Phys. Rev. D*, 103(12):123003, 2021.
- [160] Ben Kain. Fermion-charged-boson stars. Phys. Rev. D, 104(4):043001, 2021.
- [161] James M. Bardeen, Kip S. Thorne, and David W. Meltzer. A Catalogue of Methods for Studying the Normal Modes of Radial Pulsation of General-Relativistic Stellar Models. Astrophys. J., 145:505, August 1966.
- [162] Chian-Shu Chen, Fei-Fan Lee, Guey-Lin Lin, and Yen-Hsun Lin. Probing Dark Matter Self-Interaction in the Sun with IceCube-PINGU. JCAP, 10:049, 2014.
- [163] Andrew Gould. WIMP Distribution in and Evaporation

From the Sun. Astrophys. J., 321:560, 1987.

- [164] Giorgio Busoni, Andrea De Simone, and Wei-Chih Huang. On the Minimum Dark Matter Mass Testable by Neutrinos from the Sun. JCAP, 07:010, 2013.
- [165] Andrew R. Zentner. High-Energy Neutrinos From Dark Matter Particle Self-Capture Within the Sun. Phys. Rev. D, 80:063501, 2009.
- [166] Andrew Gould. Cosmological density of WIMPs from solar and terrestrial annihilations. Astrophys. J., 388:338–344, 1992.
- [167] Wei-Xiang Feng, Alessandro Parisi, Chian-Shu Chen, and Feng-Li Lin. Self-interacting dark scalar spikes around black holes via relativistic Bondi accretion. *JCAP*, 08(08):032, 2022.
- [168] N.S. Schulz. The Formation and Early Evolution of Stars: From Dust to Stars and Planets. Astronomy and Astrophysics Library. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [169] Derek Ward-Thompson and Anthony P. Whitworth. An Introduction to Star Formation. 2011.
- [170] Sidney R. Coleman and Erick J. Weinberg. Radiative Corrections as the Origin of Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking. *Phys. Rev. D*, 7:1888–1910, 1973.
- [171] James M. Lattimer. Neutron stars. Gen. Rel. Grav., 46:1713, 2014.
- [172] J. M. Lattimer. Neutron Stars and the Nuclear Matter Equation of State. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., 71:433– 464, 2021.
- [173] Todd A. Thompson et al. Discovery of a Candidate Black Hole - Giant Star Binary System in the Galactic Field. *Science*, 366(6465):637–640, November 2019.
- [174] Alexander H. Nitz and Yi-Fan Wang. Broad search for gravitational waves from subsolar-mass binaries through LIGO and Virgo's third observing run. *Phys. Rev. D*, 106(2):023024, 2022.
- [175] R. Abbott et al. Search for subsolar-mass black hole binaries in the second part of Advanced LIGO's and Advanced Virgo's third observing run. 12 2022.
- [176] Juan Calderón Bustillo, Nicolas Sanchis-Gual, Alejandro Torres-Forné, José A. Font, Avi Vajpeyi, Rory Smith, Carlos Herdeiro, Eugen Radu, and Samson H. W. Leong. GW190521 as a Merger of Proca Stars: A Potential New Vector Boson of  $8.7 \times 10^{-13}$  eV. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 126(8):081101, 2021.
- [177] Juan Calderon Bustillo, Nicolas Sanchis-Gual, Samson H. W. Leong, Koustav Chandra, Alejandro Torres-Forne, Jose A. Font, Carlos Herdeiro, Eugen Radu, Isaac C. F. Wong, and T. G. F. Li. Searching for vector boson-star mergers within LIGO-Virgo intermediatemass black-hole merger candidates. 6 2022.
- [178] Noah Sennett, Tanja Hinderer, Jan Steinhoff, Alessandra Buonanno, and Serguei Ossokine. Distinguishing Boson Stars from Black Holes and Neutron Stars from Tidal Interactions in Inspiraling Binary Systems. *Phys. Rev. D*, 96(2):024002, 2017.
- [179] Massimo Vaglio, Costantino Pacilio, Andrea Maselli, and Paolo Pani. Bayesian parameter estimation on boson-star binary signals with a coherent inspiral template and spin-dependent quadrupolar corrections. 2 2023.
- [180] Tatsuya Narikawa, Nami Uchikata, and Takahiro Tanaka. Gravitational-wave constraints on the GWTC-2 events by measuring the tidal deformability and the spin-induced quadrupole moment. *Phys. Rev. D*, 104(8):084056, 2021.

- [181] Andrew Gelman, John B. Carlin, Hal S. Stern, David B. Dunson, Akti Vehtari, and Donald B. Rubin. *Bayesian data analysis*. Chapman & Hall/CRC Texts in Statistical Science Series. CRC, Boca Raton, Florida, third edition, 2013.
- [182] Richard McElreath. Statistical Rethinking: A Bayesian Course with Examples in R and Stan, 2nd Edition. CRC Press, 2 edition, 2020.
- [183] John Kruschke. Doing Bayesian Data Analysis (Second Edition). Academic Press, Boston, 2015.
- [184] Karl Wette. SWIGLAL: Python and Octave interfaces to the LALSuite gravitational-wave data analysis libraries. SoftwareX, 12:100634, 2020.
- [185] C. M. Biwer, Collin D. Capano, Soumi De, Miriam Cabero, Duncan A. Brown, Alexander H. Nitz, and V. Raymond. PyCBC Inference: A Python-based parameter estimation toolkit for compact binary coalescence signals. *Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac.*, 131(996):024503, 2019.
- [186] Gregory Ashton et al. BILBY: A user-friendly Bayesian inference library for gravitational-wave astronomy. Astrophys. J. Suppl., 241(2):27, 2019.
- [187] Nicholas Metropolis; Arianna W. Rosenbluth; Marshall N. Rosenbluth; Augusta H. Teller; Edward Teller. Equation of State Calculations by Fast Computing Machines. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 26(6):1087, 1953.
- [188] Stuart Geman and Donald Geman. Stochastic Relaxation, Gibbs Distributions, and the Bayesian Restoration of Images. *IEEE*, PAMI-6(6):721, 1984.
- [189] David Spiegelhalter W.R. Gilks, S. Richardson. Markov Chain Monte Carlo in Practice. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 1983.
- [190] Daniel Foreman-Mackey, Dustin Lang David W. Hogg, and Jonathan Goodman. emcee: The MCMC Hammer. *The Astronomical Society of the Pacific*, 125:306–312, 2013.
- [191] et. al. Dan Foreman-Mackey. dfm/emcee: emcee v3.0rc1 (v3.0rc1). Zenodo. 2018.
- [192] W. D. Vousden, W. M. Farr, and I. Mandel. Dynamic temperature selection for parallel tempering in Markov chain Monte Carlo simulations. *MNRAS*, 455:1919– 1937, 2015.
- [193] Graham Woan Nelson Christensen, Rejean J. Dupuis and Renate Meyer. Metropolis-Hastings algorithm for extracting periodic gravitational wave signals from laser interferometric detector data. *Phys. Rev. D.*, 70:022001, 2004.
- [194] Neal Madras and Alan D. Sokal. The pivot algorithm: A highly efficient Monte Carlo method for the self-avoiding walk. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 50:109–186, 1988.
- [195] J. Veitch et al. Parameter estimation for compact binaries with ground-based gravitational-wave observations using the LALInference software library. *Phys. Rev. D.*, 91:042003, 2015.
- [196] R. Abbott et al. Open data from the third observing run of LIGO, Virgo, KAGRA and GEO. 2 2023.
- [197] R. Abbott et al. Open data from the first and second observing runs of advanced ligo and advanced virgo. *SoftwareX*, 13:100658, 2021.
- [198] Tim Dietrich, Anuradha Samajdar, Sebastian Khan, Nathan K. Johnson-McDaniel, Reetika Dudi, and Wolfgang Tichy. Improving the NRTidal model for binary neutron star systems. *Phys. Rev. D*, 100(4):044003, 2019.

- [199] Nathan K. Johnson-Mcdaniel, Arunava Mukherjee, Rahul Kashyap, Parameswaran Ajith, Walter Del Pozzo, and Salvatore Vitale. Constraining black hole mimickers with gravitational wave observations. *Phys. Rev. D*, 102:123010, 2020.
- [200] Virgo Collaboration R. Abbott et al. (LIGO Scientific Collaboration and KAGRA Collaboration). Open data from the third observing run of LIGO, Virgo, KA-GRA and GEO. 2 2023.
- [201] Katerina Chatziioannou Sebastian Khan, Frank Ohme and Mark Hannam. Including higher order multipoles in gravitational-wave models for precessing binary black holes. *Phys. Rev. D*, 101(12):124056, 2020.
- [202] Sebastian Khan Elisa Nitoglia Francesco Pannarale Tim Dietrich Jonathan E. Thompson, Edward Fauchon-Jones and Mark Hannam. Modeling the gravitational wave signature of neutron star black hole coalescences. *Phys. Rev. D*, 101(12):124059, 2020.
- [203] Valerio De Luca and Paolo Pani. Tidal deformability of dressed black holes and tests of ultralight bosons in extended mass ranges. JCAP, 08:032, 2021.
- [204] Valerio De Luca, Andrea Maselli, and Paolo Pani. Modeling frequency-dependent tidal deformability for environmental black hole mergers. *Phys. Rev. D*, 107(4):044058, 2023.
- [205] Panagiotis Charalambous, Sergei Dubovsky, and Mikhail M. Ivanov. Love symmetry. JHEP, 10:175, 2022.
- [206] Lam Hui, Austin Joyce, Riccardo Penco, Luca Santoni, and Adam R. Solomon. Near-zone symmetries of Kerr black holes. JHEP, 09:049, 2022.
- [207] Lam Hui, Austin Joyce, Riccardo Penco, Luca Santoni,

and Adam R. Solomon. Ladder symmetries of black holes. Implications for love numbers and no-hair theorems. *JCAP*, 01(01):032, 2022.

- [208] Marc Favata. Systematic parameter errors in inspiraling neutron star binaries. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 112:101101, 2014.
- [209] Leslie Wade, Jolien D. E. Creighton, Evan Ochsner, Benjamin D. Lackey, Benjamin F. Farr, Tyson B. Littenberg, and Vivien Raymond. Systematic and statistical errors in a bayesian approach to the estimation of the neutron-star equation of state using advanced gravitational wave detectors. *Phys. Rev. D*, 89(10):103012, 2014.
- [210] Bernard F. Schutz. Networks of gravitational wave detectors and three figures of merit. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 28:125023, 2011.
- [211] H. Bondi and F. Hoyle. On the mechanism of accretion by stars. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 104:273, 1944.
- [212] H. Bondi. On spherically symmetrical accretion. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 112:195, 1952.
- [213] S. L. Shapiro and S. A. Teukolsky. Black holes, white dwarfs, and neutron stars: The physics of compact objects. John Wiley and Sons, 1983.
- [214] Chloe B. Richards, Thomas W. Baumgarte, and Stuart L. Shapiro. Relativistic Bondi accretion for stiff equations of state. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, 502(2):3003–3011, 2021.
- [215] Patryk Mach and Andrzej Odrzywo. Accretion of Dark Matter onto a Moving Schwarzschild Black Hole: An Exact Solution. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 126(10):101104, 2021.